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Cautionary Statement
This Annual Report of National Grid USA contains certain statements that are neither reported
financial results nor other historical information. These statements are forward-looking statements
within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Throughout this report, forward-looking state-
ments can be identified by the words or phrases “will likely result”, “are expected to”, “will contin-
ue”, “is anticipated”, “estimated”, “projected”, “believe”, “hopes”, or similar expressions. Because
these forward-looking statements are subject to assumptions, risks and uncertainties, actual future
results may differ materially from those expressed in or implied by such statements. 

Many of these assumptions, risks and uncertainties relate to factors that are beyond manage-
ment’s ability to control or estimate precisely, such as delays in obtaining or adverse conditions
contained in regulatory approvals; competition and industry restructuring; changes in economic
conditions; adverse changes in electric load; currency fluctuations; changes in interest and tax
rates; changes in energy market prices; federal and state regulatory developments and changes in
law, regulations or regulatory policies; timing and adequacy of rate relief, including failure to recov-
er costs currently deferred under the provisions Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
71, “Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation”, as amended; changes in account-
ing rules and interpretations which may have an adverse impact on financial position and results of
operations; technological developments; or the failure to retain key management. 

Other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those described in this docu-
ment include the ability to continue to integrate the businesses acquired by or merged with the
Company or to realize expected synergies from such integrations; the failure to achieve reductions
in costs or to achieve operational efficiencies; unseasonable weather affecting demand for electric-
ity and gas; the regulatory treatment of pension costs; and any adverse consequences arising
from outages on or otherwise affecting energy networks which we own or operate. 

Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which
speak only as of the date of this report. Neither National Grid plc nor National Grid USA under-
takes any obligation to revise any statements in this report to reflect events or circumstances after
the date of this report.
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THE COMPANY
The following is only a summary and is not intended to be a comprehensive description of
National Grid USA (the Company) or the activities of its subsidiaries. For further information about
National Grid USA, please see National Grid Transco’s Annual Report and Accounts 2004/05,
available at www.nationalgrid.com, or as part of National Grid Transco’s Annual Report on Form
20-F for fiscal year ended March 31, 2005 and other reports filed with the US Securities and
Exchange Commission (the SEC); New England Power Company’s Annual Report on Form 
10-K for fiscal year ended March 31, 2005 and other SEC filings; and Niagara Mohawk Power
Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended March 31, 2005 and other SEC
filings. These documents are not incorporated by reference.

National Grid USA is a Delaware corporation and an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
National Grid plc (National Grid). National Grid plc, (formerly National Grid Transco plc), is an
international network utility company with electricity and gas transmission and distribution inter-
ests in the UK and the US. 

Prior to its acquisition by National Grid in 2000, National Grid USA was known as New England
Electric System. The Company expanded its operations with the acquisitions of Eastern Utilities
Associates in 2000 and Niagara Mohawk Holdings, Inc. in 2002.

National Grid USA is the holding company for National Grid’s US operations. The Company’s
reportable segments are electricity-transmission, electricity-distribution including the sub-segment
stranded cost recoveries and gas-distribution with the remainder of its activities reported under
“Other”. The principal operating companies that perform these activities are summarized in the
table below. 

Company and service area Calendar 2005 Customer Base Fiscal 2005 Financial information
(approximately) (before intercompany eliminations)

($’s in 000’s)

Niagara Mohawk 
Power Corporation
Electricity & Gas distribution and 1.6 million electric customers Operating Revenue: $ 3,925,171
Electricity transmission company in 669 cities and towns Operating Profit: 500,694
serving central, northern and 565,000 gas customers in Net Income: 260,321
eastern New York 197 cities and towns Total Assets: 12,518,362

Massachusetts 
Electric Company
Electricity distribution company 1.2 million customers in Operating Revenue: $ 1,964,091
serving customers throughout 171 cities and towns Operating Profit: 122,125
Massachusetts Net Income: 98,521

Total Assets:  3,286,625

The Narragansett 
Electric Company
Electricity distribution and 476,000 customers in Operating Revenue: $ 816,024
transmission company serving 38 cities and towns Operating Profit: 79,049
the state of Rhode Island Net Income: 68,042

Total Assets: 1,686,713

Granite State 
Electric Company
Electricity distribution company 40,000 customers in Operating Revenue: $ 76,572
serving Southern New Hampshire 21 communities Operating Profit: 6,139
and portions of the Connecticut Net Income:  4,826
River Valley Total Assets: 101,382
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Company and service area Calendar 2005 Customer Base Fiscal 2005 Financial information
(approximately) (before intercompany eliminations)

($’s in 000’s)

Nantucket Electric Company
Electricity distribution company 12,000 customers on Operating Revenue: $ 18,150
serving Nantucket Island off Nantucket Island Operating Profit: 1,777
Massachusetts Net Income: 916

Total Assets: 70,379

New England 
Power Company
Electricity transmission Principally the New England Operating Revenue: $ 458,261
company serving electricity distribution affiliates: Operating Profit: 84,494
Massachusetts, Massachusetts Electric Company, Net Income: 76,808
Rhode Island and The Narragansett Electric Company, Total Assets: 2,675,908
New Hampshire Granite State Electric Company and 

Nantucket Electric Company

GridAmerica LLC (1)

Electricity transmission grid Manages the transmission assets Operating Revenue: $ 11,410 
management serving utilities in of three participating utilities, in Operating Profit: 1,598
Ohio, Indiana, Missouri, and Illinois coordination with the Midwest ISO Net Income: 1,430

Total Assets: 2,478

National Grid Communications, Inc. 
and NEES Communications, Inc.
Telecommunications infrastructure Provider of telecommunications and Operating Revenue: $ 24,920
companies operating in New England wireless infrastructure and services Operating Profit: 3,543
and New York in New England and New York Net Income: 3,504

Total Assets:  254,850

(1) During April 2005, Ameren notified the Company’s electricity transmission business and its fellow GridAmerica partici-
pants that it will withdraw from GridAmerica effective November 1, 2005. Together with FirstEnergy and Northern Indiana
Public Service Company, the Company evaluated GridAmerica’s viability given the current industry environment, their
respective long-term corporate strategies and Ameren’s departure, and ultimately agreed to cease GridAmerica operations
also effective November 1, 2005.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

INCENTIVE RETURNS UNDER RATE PLANS
We recover our costs of providing electricity and gas distribution, stranded cost recovery and elec-
tricity transmission service under rates approved by the applicable regulators. The rates are set
based on historical or forecasted costs, and we earn a return on our assets, including a return on
the “stranded costs” associated with the divestiture of our generating assets under deregulation
and we may earn additional amounts to the extent we generate additional efficiencies. Commodity
costs are passed through directly to customers. We are also subject to service quality standards
in New York, Massachusetts and Rhode Island with respect to reliability and other aspects of cus-
tomer service. We are subject to penalties if we fail to meet certain targets and, in Massachusetts,
we can also earn incentives for outstanding performance.

Under long-term rate plans in New York, Massachusetts and Rhode Island, the Company’s 
distribution subsidiaries are allowed by state regulators the opportunity to earn and retain certain
amounts in excess of traditional regulatory allowed returns. These incentive returns and shared
savings allowances are designed to provide the subsidiaries with an opportunity to use efficiency
gains following their mergers to more than offset the costs of completing those mergers.

Niagara Mohawk’s electricity delivery rates are governed by a long-term rate plan that became
effective on January 31, 2002, the closing of the merger. Under the plan, rates were designed so
that Niagara Mohawk may earn a threshold return on equity (ROE) for its electricity distribution
business of 10.6% after reflecting its share of savings related to the acquisition. Niagara Mohawk
is also allowed to earn up to 12.0% if certain customer education targets are met, and half of any
earnings in excess of that amount. The ROE is calculated cumulatively from inception to
December 31, 2005 and on a two-year rolling basis thereafter. The earnings calculation used to
determine the regulated returns excludes half of the synergy savings, net of the cost to achieve
them, that were assumed in the rate plan. This exclusion effectively offers Niagara Mohawk the
potential to achieve a return in excess of the regulatory allowed return of 10.6%.

Niagara Mohawk collects transmission business revenues under several Federal Energy
Regulatory Commission (FERC) rate schedules and state energy delivery rates. Total transmission
business revenues are determined by the state-approved 10-year rate plan.

Under Niagara Mohawk’s rate plan, gas delivery rates were frozen until the end of the 2004 calen-
dar year. Niagara Mohawk now has the right to request an increase at any time, if needed. Under
the plan, rates were designed so that Niagara Mohawk may earn a threshold ROE of up to 10.6%.
Niagara Mohawk is also allowed to earn up to 12.0% if certain customer migration and education
goals are met, and is required to share earnings above this threshold with customers.

Under Massachusetts Electric’s long-term rate plan, there is no cap on earnings and no earnings
sharing mechanism until 2010. From May 2000 until February 2005, rates were frozen. In March
2005, a settlement credit in the company’s rates expired, which represents an increase of $10 mil-
lion in pre-tax income through February 2006. From March 2006, rates will be adjusted each
March until 2009 by the annual percentage change in average unbundled electricity distribution
rates in the northeastern US. In 2010, actual earned savings will be determined and the company
will be allowed to retain 100% of annual earned savings up to $70 million and 50% of annual
earned savings between $70 million and $145 million (all figures pre-tax). Earned savings repre-
sents the difference between calendar year 2008 distribution revenue and the company’s cost of
providing service, including a regional average authorized return. These efficiency incentive mecha-
nisms provide an opportunity to achieve returns in excess of traditional regulatory allowed returns.
Massachusetts Electric will be allowed to include its share of earned savings in demonstrating its
costs of providing service to customers from January 2010 until May 2020.

In Rhode Island, Narragansett Electric’s distribution rates are governed by a long-term rate plan.
Between May 2000 and the end of October 2004, rates were frozen and Narragansett was per-
mitted to retain 100% of its earnings up to an allowed return on equity of 12%. Narragansett kept
50% of earnings between 12% and 13%, and 25% of earnings in excess of 13%. Effective from
November 2004 until December 2009, Narragansett Electric has agreed to freeze its rates after 
an initial reduction of $10.2 million per year. Beginning in January 2005, it will be able to keep 
an amount equal to 100% of its earnings up to an allowed ROE of 10.5%, plus $4.65 million (pre-
tax), which represents its share of earned savings. Earnings above that amount up to an additional 
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1% ROE are to be shared equally between Narragansett and its customers, while additional earn-
ings will be allocated 75% to customers and 25% to Narragansett. 

New England Power Company (NEP) is a participating transmission owner (PTO) in New England’s
Regional Transmission Organization (RTO) which commenced operations effective February 1,
2005. ISO New England, Inc. (ISO) has been authorized by FERC to exercise the operations and
system planning functions required of RTOs and will be the independent regional transmission
provider under the ISO Open Access Transmission Tariff (ISO-OATT). The ISO-OATT is designed to
provide non-discriminatory open access transmission services over the transmission facilities of
the PTOs and recover their revenue requirements. FERC issued two orders in 2004 and two in
2005 that approved the establishment of the RTO and resolved certain issues concerning the pro-
posed ROE for New England PTOs. Other return issues were set for hearing. A number of parties,
including NEP, filed appeals from one or more of those orders with the US Court of Appeals for
the District of Columbia Circuit.

NEP’s currently allowed ROE for transmission assets is 10.25%. Effective on the RTO operations
date of February 1, 2005, NEP’s transmission rates began to reflect a proposed base return on
equity of 12.8%, subject to refund, plus the additional 0.5% incentive return on regional network
service (RNS) rates that FERC approved in March 2004. Approximately 70% of the Company’s
transmission costs are recovered through RNS rates. An additional 1.0% incentive adder is also
applicable to new RNS transmission investment, subject to refund.   

NEP and the other PTOs participated in FERC proceedings to determine outstanding ROE issues,
including base ROE and the proposed 1% ROE incentive for new transmission investment. On
May 27, 2005, the administrative law judge issued an initial decision which concluded that the
base ROE should be 10.72% and that NEP and other PTOs are not entitled to the proposed 1%
ROE incentive. All parties will have the opportunity to file a brief on exceptions in response to the
judge’s initial decision. A final FERC order is expected by year end 2005. 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
There are certain critical accounting policies that are based on assumptions and conditions that if
changed could have a material effect on the financial condition, results of operations and liquidity
of the Company. The following accounting policies are particularly important to the financial condi-
tion and results of operations of the Company: regulatory accounting (including the collection of
purchase power costs through the commodity adjustment clause and purchased gas through the
gas cost collection mechanism), derivative accounting, revenue recognition, goodwill accounting,
and pension accounting. 

Regulatory Accounting
Electric and gas utilities are subject to certain accounting standards that are generally not applica-
ble to other business enterprises. The Company applies the provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (FAS) No. 71, “Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation”
(FAS 71), which requires regulated entities, in appropriate circumstances, to establish regulatory
assets or liabilities, and thereby defer the income statement impact of certain charges or revenues
because they are expected to be collected or refunded through future customer billings. In 1997,
the Emerging Issues Task Force of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) concluded
that an electric utility that had received approval to recover stranded costs through regulated rates
would be permitted to continue to apply FAS 71 to the recovery of stranded costs.

The Company has received authorization from regulatory authorities to recover through Contract
Termination Charges (in New England) and Competitive Transition Charges (in New York) (collec-
tively, CTCs) substantially all of the costs associated with its former generating business not recov-
ered through the divestiture of the generating business. CTCs are mechanisms that were estab-
lished to provide for the Company’s recovery of stranded costs from customers. Additionally,
FERC Order No. 888 enables transmission companies to recover their specific costs of providing
transmission service. Therefore, substantially all of the Company’s business, including the recovery
of its stranded costs, remains under costbased rate regulation. 

Regulatory assets and liabilities typically include deferral of under recovered or over recovered
energy costs, environmental restoration costs, post retirement benefit costs, the normalization of
income taxes and the deferral of losses incurred on debt retirements. The Company continually
assesses whether its regulatory assets and liabilities continue to meet criteria for future recovery or
refund, respectively. This assessment considers factors such as changes in the regulatory environ-
ment, recent rate orders to the other regulated entities under the same jurisdiction and the status
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of any pending or potential deregulation legislation. If future recovery of costs becomes no longer
probable, the assets and liabilities would be recognized as current-period revenue or expense.

Amortization of regulatory assets is provided over the recovery period as allowed by the related
regulatory agreement. Amortization of the stranded cost regulatory asset is shown separately
(as it is the largest component of regulatory assets). Amortization of other regulatory assets are
included in depreciation and amortization, purchased electricity and gas and other operation
and maintenance expense captions on the income statement (depending on the origin of the
regulatory asset).

Derivatives
The Company accounts for derivative financial instruments under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for
Derivatives and Hedging Activities” (FAS 133), and SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of SFAS No. 133
on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended. Under the provisions of FAS 133, 
all derivatives except those qualifying for the normal purchase/normal sale exception are recognized
on the balance sheet at their fair value. Fair value is determined using current quoted market prices. 
If a contract is designated as a cash flow hedge, the change in its market value is generally deferred
as a component of other comprehensive income until the transaction it is hedging is completed.
Conversely, the change in the market value of a derivative not designated as a cash flow hedge is
deferred as a regulatory asset or liability. A cash flow hedge is a hedge of a forecasted transaction or
the variability of cash flows to be received or paid related to a recognized asset or liability. To qualify as
a cash flow hedge, the fair value changes in the derivative must be expected to offset 80% to 120%
of the changes in fair value or cash flows of the hedged item.

Niagara Mohawk has received approval from the New York State Public Service Commission
(PSC) to establish a regulatory asset or liability for derivative instruments that did not qualify for
hedge accounting and were the result of regulatory rulings.

Revenue Recognition
Revenues from the sale of electricity and gas to customers are generally recorded when electricity
and gas are delivered to those customers. The quantity of those sales is measured by customers’
meters. Meters are read on a systematic basis throughout the month based on established meter-
reading schedules. Consequently, at the end of any month, there exists a quantity of electricity
and gas that has been delivered to customers but has not been captured by the meter readings.
As a result, management must estimate revenue related to electricity and gas delivered to cus-
tomers between their meter read dates and the end of the period.

Goodwill
The company applies the provisions of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”
(FAS 142). In accordance with FAS 142, goodwill must be reviewed for impairment at least annual-
ly and when events indicate the asset may be impaired. The Company utilizes a discounted cash
flow approach incorporating its most recent business plan forecasts in the performance of the
annual goodwill impairment test. The result of the annual analysis determined that no adjustment
to the goodwill carrying value was required.

Tax Provision
The Company’s tax provisions, including both current and deferred components, are based on
estimates, assumptions, calculations and interpretation of tax statutes for the current and future
years in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes”. Federal income tax
returns have been examined and all appeals and issues have been agreed upon by the Internal
Revenue Service and the Company through March 22, 2000. 

Management regularly makes assessments of tax return outcomes relative to financial statement
tax provisions and adjusts the tax provisions in the period when facts become final.

Pensions
The Company has recognized a net additional minimum pension liability of $290 million on its bal-
ance sheet reflecting an underfunded pension obligation. The Company’s subsidiaries, NEP and
Niagara Mohawk, due to the nature of their respective rate plans, recorded a regulatory asset.
(See Note G – “Employee Benefits.”)
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In addition to the market returns, various other assumptions also affect the pension and other
post-retirement benefit expense and measurement of their respective obligations. The more signifi-
cant assumptions include the assumed return on assets, discount rate, and in the case of retiree
healthcare benefits, medical trend assumptions. All ongoing costs of qualified pension and post-
retirement healthcare benefits plans are recoverable from customers through reconciling provisions
of the Merger Rate Plans. 

■ Assumed return on assets. The estimated rate of return for various passive asset classes is
based both on analysis of historical rates of return and forward looking analysis of risk premi-
ums and yields. Current market conditions, such as inflation and interest rates, are evaluated
in connection with the setting of our long-term assumption. A small premium is added for
active management of both equity and fixed income. The rates of return for each asset class
are then weighted in accordance with our target asset allocation, and the resulting long-term
return on asset rate is then applied to the market-related value of assets. For fiscal 2005, the
Company used an 8.50% assumed return on assets for its pension plan and an 8.26%
assumed return on assets for its other post-retirement benefits plans, respectively.

■ Discount rate. In determining the discount rate, the Company considers Moody’s Aa rates for
corporate bonds and public utility bonds.  In addition, the Company considers other measures
of interest rates for high quality fixed income investments which match the duration of the lia-
bilities. A rate is chosen within the range set by these measures. 

■ Medical trend assumptions. The health care cost trend rate is the assumed rate of increase
in per-capita health care charges. For 2005, the health trend was set at 10% with the ultimate
trend of 5% reached in 2010.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

EARNINGS
Net income for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2005 increased approximately $288 million (108%)
as compared to the prior year. The increase was primarily due to reductions in the following (i)
operating expenses - $345 million, (ii) other deductions - $27 million, and (iii) interest expense -
$38 million. The reductions in expenses were partially off set by a reduction in revenue of approxi-
mately $122 million. See the following discussions of revenues, operating expenses and other
income (deductions) for more detailed explanations. 

Net income for the twelve months ended March 31, 2004 decreased approximately $44 million
(14%) as compared to the prior year. This decrease was primarily a result of non-recurring costs
related to the merger with Niagara Mohawk, partially offset by reduced interest costs resulting
from the redemption or refinancing of long-term debt.

ELECTRIC
The Company’s electricity business encompasses the transmission, distribution, and delivery of
electricity in New England and New York including stranded cost recoveries. The Company’s New
England distribution subsidiaries (Massachusetts Electric, Narragansett Electric, Granite State
Electric and Nantucket Electric) are responsible for the distribution and sale of electricity to cus-
tomers while NEP is responsible for the transmission of electricity. For New York, Niagara Mohawk
is responsible for the transmission, distribution, and sale of electricity. Electric results are dis-
cussed by geography. 

The Company is no longer in the business of electricity generation and has divested the vast
majority of its formerly owned generation assets (the Company still retains a nine percent joint
ownership interest in the Wyman #4 generating unit in Maine, which the Company is attempting to
sell). Since deregulation, electricity customers have the ability to choose an alternative supplier of
their electricity other than the retail distribution company serving that customer’s region. For cus-
tomers who have not chosen an alternative supplier, the Company procures power on their behalf.
These energy procurement costs (i.e. purchased electricity expenses) are recoverable from cus-
tomers and do not impact the company’s electric margin or net income.
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Electric margin in New England increased approximately $5 million and $11 million for the fiscal
years ended March 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The table below details the components of
these increases.

Electric margin in New York increased approximately $9 million and decreased $39 million for the
fiscal years ended March 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The table below details the compo-
nents of these changes.

Descriptions of individual line items are provided below under their respective headings.

Electric sales increased approximately 665 GWh (1%) in fiscal 2005 as compared to the prior
year and decreased approximately 528 GWh (<1%) in fiscal 2004 compared to fiscal 2003. An
analysis by customer class is provided below.
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New England
Electric Operating Margin ($'s in 000's)

2005 2004 2003 $ Change % Change $ Change % Change
Electric revenue 3,146,451$  3,130,308$  2,784,518$  16,143$      0.5            345,790$      12.4          
Less:

Electricity purchased 1,546,288    1,553,483    1,176,035    (7,195)        (0.5)           377,448        32.1          
Amortization of stranded costs 67,344         70,710         72,394         (3,366)        (4.8)           (1,684)           (2.3)           
CTC and nuclear shutdown charges 149,140       145,517       161,583       3,623          2.5            (16,066)         (9.9)           
Other O&M - fuel for generation 1,125           4,503           9,125           (3,378)        (75.0)         (4,622)           (50.7)         
Other O&M - transmission expenses 181,076       158,721       192,273       22,355        14.1          (33,552)         (17.5)         
Other O&M - energy efficiency costs 72,402         73,534         66,074         (1,132)        (1.5)           7,460            11.3          
Other taxes - gross receipts tax 30,027         29,735         24,031         292             1.0            5,704            23.7          

Electric margin 1,099,049$  1,094,105$  1,083,003$  4,944$        0.5            11,102$        1.0            

FY05 vs FY04 FY04 vs FY03

New York
Electric Operating Margin ($'s in 000's)

2005 2004 2003 $ Change % Change $ Change % Change
Electric revenue 3,117,156$  3,284,017$  3,310,837$  (166,861)$  (5.1)           (26,820)$       (0.8)           
Less:

Electricity purchased 1,364,813    1,591,652    1,594,221    (226,839)    (14.3)         (2,569)           (0.2)           
Amortization of stranded costs 251,500       194,114       149,415       57,386        29.6          44,699          29.9          
Other O&M - energy efficiency costs 39,096         39,283         39,468         (187)           (0.5)           (185)              (0.5)           
Gross receipts tax expense 16,031         21,857         52,012         (5,826)        (26.7)         (30,155)         (58.0)         

Electric margin 1,445,716$  1,437,111$  1,475,721$  8,605$        0.6            (38,610)$       (2.6)           

FY05 vs FY04 FY04 vs FY03

Electric Sales Volumes (GWh)

2005 2004 2003 FY05 vs FY04 FY04 vs FY03
New England:

Residential 11,801     11,788     11,507     0.1                2.4                
Commercial 13,313     13,126     13,066     1.4                0.5                
Industrial/Other 5,438       5,455       5,666       (0.3)               (3.7)               

Total - New England 30,552     30,369     30,239     0.6                0.4                
New York:

Residential 10,939     10,935     10,925     0.0                0.1                
General Service 11,045     10,775     10,756     2.5                0.2                
Large Time-of-Use 7,256       6,732       7,104       7.8                (5.2)               
NYPA/Other 5,280       5,596       5,911       (5.6)               (5.3)               

Total - New York 34,520     34,038     34,696     1.4                (1.9)               
Total - NE and NY 65,072     64,407     64,935     1.0                (0.8)               

Actual
% Change
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The following table reflects weather normalized volumes. 

New England Customer Classes 
■ Residential customer sales are to single, as well as multi-family, residences and group

homes, farms, and religious institutions (churches, schools, seminaries, retreats, conference
centers, etc.). 

■ Commercial sales are to small and large commercial accounts including office, warehouse,
retail, school, hotel, restaurant, hospitals/health, government and street lighting. 

■ Industrial/Other sales are to small and large industrial accounts, including plants, factories,
mills and any other establishments primarily engaged in the manufacturing of finished, inter-
mediate, durable or non-durable goods.

New York Customer Classes
■ Residential customer sales are to single, as well as multi-family, residences and group homes,

farms, and religious institutions (churches, schools, seminaries, retreats, conference centers, etc.). 

■ General Service sales consist of commercial accounts and light industry served under stan-
dard tariff provisions. 

■ Large Time-of-Use sales encompass the heavy industrial as well as several very large com-
mercial campuses (educational and health care) and customers receiving discount power
under special contracts and station stand-by service. 

■ NYPA/Other are sales generally made to large industrial loads that are supplied from the
Niagara Falls Power Project through Company owned transmission lines. NYPA sales also
consist of NYPA administered discount power through the Economic Development Power
program and the Power for Jobs programs. Customers whose power contracts expire and
who subsequently continue to purchase power from Niagara Mohawk are accounted for in
either large time-of-use sales or general service sales. Other accounts are primarily Street and
Highway Lighting as well as Private Area Lighting.

Seasonality & Weather impacts
Electricity customer load varies by season, usually peaking in the winter and summer months. The
lower and higher temperatures in those months drive higher electricity sales as more electricity is
used for heating or cooling during those months. The New England and New York regions experi-
enced more extreme weather temperatures during fiscal 2004 (with higher than average tempera-
tures in the summer months and lower average temperatures in winter months). 

Weather had a negative impact on consolidated electric margin of approximately $19 million for
the year ended March 31, 2005 and a positive impact of approximately $11 million for the year
ended March 31, 2004.
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Electric Sales Volumes (GWh)
Weather Normalized

2005 2004 2003 FY05 vs FY04 FY04 vs FY03
New England:

Residential 11,771     11,515     11,008     2.2                4.6                
Commercial 13,303     13,015     12,822     2.2                1.5                
Industrial/Other 5,440       5,434       5,652       0.1                (3.9)               

Total - New England 30,514     29,964     29,482     1.8                1.6                
New York:

Residential 11,075     10,932     10,447     1.3                4.6                
General Service 11,116     10,778     10,558     3.1                2.1                
Large Time-of-Use 7,264       6,736       7,071       7.8                (4.7)               
NYPA/Other 5,280       5,596       5,911       (5.6)               (5.3)               

Total - New York 34,735     34,042     33,987     2.0                0.2                
Total - NE and NY 65,249     64,006     63,469     1.9                0.8                

% Change
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Economic impacts
During fiscal year 2005, the New York region began recovering from the industrial recession during
fiscal years 2003 and 2004. During fiscal 2005, deliveries of electricity to non-residential accounts
expanded by 5.3% following four years of steady decline. The residential sector in the New York
service area expanded 1.3% during fiscal 2005 (versus 3%+ in the two previous years) as the
regional housing boom began winding down. In New England, residential energy deliveries grew at
a 2.2% rate in fiscal year 2005, but this was still much less than the pace of the previous two
years. Industrial energy deliveries stabilized, increasing 0.1% after three consecutive years of
decline while commercial deliveries grew at the same rate as residential, 2.2%.

Electric revenues decreased approximately $151 million (2%) and increased approximately $319
(5%) for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The table below details
components of these fluctuations. 

■ Total retail sales for fiscal year 2005 were relatively consistent with the prior year. The
Company, through various rate mechanisms, passes on to customers changes in its cost of
purchased power. The approximately $166 million increase in retail sales for the year ended
March 31, 2004 was primarily attributable to an increase in purchased power costs.

■ Sales for resale are revenues generated from selling electricity to other public utilities or munic-
ipal utilities. The $97 million decrease in fiscal year 2005 compared to fiscal year 2004 is pri-
marily due to a decrease in Niagara Mohawk sales to the New York Independent System
Operator (NYISO) of approximately $89 million. In New York, all electricity purchased under
certain purchased power contracts is sold to the NYISO. The decrease in sales to the NYISO
for the year ended March 31, 2005 was due to the expiration of some of these contracts.

■ Transmission revenue is revenue derived from transmission wheeling (transmitting the electrici-
ty of other utilities over Company-owned transmission lines). The $31 million increase during
fiscal 2005 was primarily attributable to retail electric customers migrating to competitive sup-
pliers for their commodity requirements.

■ Refund provisions primarily relate to the New England distribution companies’
(Massachusetts Electric, Narragansett Electric, Granite State Electric and Nantucket
Electric) deferral mechanisms for the over and under collection of electricity procurement
costs. Electricity is procured for customers who have not chosen an alternative energy sup-
plier. These purchased electricity costs fluctuate from month to month, but the rate charged
to customers changes less often. This results in either a temporary over or under collection
of costs. The refund provision reflects this over or under recovery with an offset to a regula-
tory asset or liability for recovery or refund in the following year. Periodically, the customer
rates for electricity procurement (shown as a “generation” charge on the customers’ bills)
are adjusted to reflect actual or forecasted purchased electricity costs along with an
increase or reduction for any under or over collection of prior period costs. In fiscal 2005 
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Electric Revenue ($'s in 000's)
Actual

2005 2004 2003 $ Change % Change $ Change % Change
Retail Sales

Residential 2,708,421$   2,820,271$ 2,717,843$ (111,850)$  (4.0)           102,428$   3.8            
Commercial 2,203,203     2,072,745   1,976,829   130,458     6.3            95,916       4.9            
Industrial 726,295        743,761      785,282      (17,466)      (2.3)           (41,521)      (5.3)           
Street lighting 77,423          71,869        62,303        5,554         7.7            9,566         15.4          

Total retail sales 5,715,342     5,708,646   5,542,257   6,696         0.1            166,389     3.0            

Sales for resale 126,706        223,789      249,574      (97,083)      (43.4)         (25,785)      (10.3)         
Transmission revenue 259,903        228,427      235,739      31,476       13.8          (7,312)        (3.1)           
Refund provisions 5,590            97,190        (82,455)       (91,600)      (94.2)         179,645     (217.9)       
Other revenues 156,066        156,273      150,240      (207)           (0.1)           6,033         4.0            

6,263,607$   6,414,325$ 6,095,355$ (150,718)$  (2.3)           318,970$   5.2            

FY05 vs FY04 FY04 vs FY03
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and 2004 there was an under collection of costs. This portion of revenue has no impact on
electric margin or net income due to equal offsets in purchased electricity (cost of power)
and retail sales revenue (generation rate revenue).

■ Other revenue consists of miscellaneous ancillary revenues such as rental income from electric
properties (e.g. usage of pole space for wires by the telephone and cable companies).

Electricity purchased decreased approximately $234 million (7.4%) in the current year. These
costs represent the cost for the Company to procure electricity for its customers who have not
chosen an alternative energy supplier. These costs do not impact electric margin or net income as
the Company’s rate plans allow full recoverability of these costs from customers. The decrease in
expense primarily relates to New York and is the result of a 5.5 billion (17%) decrease in the vol-
ume of kWh purchased due to customers migrating to competitive electricity suppliers and less
extreme weather in the current year.

Electricity purchased increased approximately $375 million (13.5%) in the fiscal year ended March
31, 2004. The increase in expense was primarily the result of increased prices being charged to
the Company for electricity to be distributed to its customers.

GAS
Niagara Mohawk is also a gas distribution company that services customers in cities and towns in
central and eastern New York. Niagara Mohawk’s gas rate plan allows it to recover all commodity
costs (i.e. the purchasing, interstate transportation and storage of gas for sale to customers) from
customers (similar to the recoverability of purchased electricity).

Gas margin after one-time items decreased approximately $4.6 million (1.5%) in the fiscal year
ended March 31, 2005 and decreased approximately $1.3 million (0.4%) in the fiscal year ended
March 31, 2004. The table below details the components of these changes. 

The $4.6 million decrease in gas margin after a one-time item comparing fiscal 2005 to fiscal 2004
is primarily due to the elimination of the $6 million state income tax adjustment recorded in the
prior period, partially offset by an increase in gas margin of $1.4 million. The state income tax
adjustment is a non-cash item included in revenue (with the offsetting expense included in Income
Taxes). In fiscal 2003, approximately $10 million was accrued in revenue as estimated state
income tax expense (as state income taxes are recoverable through the Company’s rate agree-
ment). In fiscal 2004, when the state income taxes were reconciled and paid it was determined
that the Company over-accrued its income tax liability by approximately $6 million and subse-
quently reversed the over-accrual. 
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2005 2004 2003 $ Change % Change $ Change % Change
Gas revenue 808,015$   779,600$   708,613$   28,415$     3.6            70,987$     10.0          
Less:

Gas purchased 509,543     478,647     393,796     30,896       6.5            84,851       21.5          
Other taxes - gross receipts tax 9,236         13,123       13,746       (3,887)        (29.6)         (623)           (4.5)           

Gas margin 289,236     287,830     301,071     1,406         0.5            (13,241)      (4.4)           
Gas revenue - state income tax adjustment -                 (5,957)        5,957         5,957         (100.0)       (11,914)      (200.0)       

Gas margin after one-time item 289,236$   293,787$   295,114$   (4,551)$      (1.5)           (1,327)$      (0.4)           

FY05 vs FY04 FY04 vs FY03
Gas Operating Margin ($'s in 000's)
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Gas throughput for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2005 and 2004, excluding transportation of
customer-owned gas, decreased approximately 3.7 and 3.6 million dekatherms (Dth), respectively.
An analysis by customer class is provided below.

Retail
Retail throughput represents throughput related to both the distribution (transportation) of the gas
and the commodity itself. The decrease in retail throughput comparing fiscal 2005 to fiscal 2004 is
primarily due to (i) a decrease in use-per-customer primarily resulting from increased gas prices
and (ii) less extreme weather in the current year.

Transportation
Transportation throughput represents throughput related to the distribution of gas only, not includ-
ing the commodity itself. The decline in transportation throughput is largely driven by the
Company’s special contract class (customers who are subject to special contracts whereby mar-
gin is not linked to throughput). The decline in throughput does not translate into a decline in mar-
gin as these classes are subject to a true-up to a target which is set independently in the
Company’s rate case proceeding.

The decrease in transportation throughput for fiscal 2004 compared to fiscal 2003 is largely driven
by the Company’s Special Contract and Interruptible classes. 

Seasonality and weather impacts
Gas customer throughput varies by season, with loads usually peaking in the winter months. The
lower temperatures in the winter months drive higher gas throughput, as more gas is used for
heating during colder months. The New York region experienced less extreme weather tempera-
tures during the winter of fiscal 2005 compared to prior winters. 

The Company’s gas rate agreement also includes a weather normalization clause to mitigate the
impact that unseasonable weather could have on gas margin during the peak gas sales season
(winter). This normalization clause compares the 30-year historical average temperature for the 
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2005 2004 2003 FY05 vs FY04 FY04 vs FY03
Retail 

Residential 46,025     48,699     51,533     (5.5)                (5.5)                
Commercial 14,579     15,479     16,334     (5.8)                (5.2)                
Industrial 396          521          440          (24.0)              18.4               
Other 1              2              7              (50.0)              (71.4)              

Total retail 61,001     64,701     68,314     (5.7)                (5.3)                
Transportation 80,329     83,548     114,286   (3.9)                (26.9)              

Total gas sales volume 141,330   148,249   182,600   (4.7)                (18.8)              

% Change

Gas Throughput Volumes (000's of Dth)
Actual

2005 2004 2003 FY05 vs FY04 FY04 vs FY03
Retail 

Residential 46,105     47,995     49,336     (3.9)               (2.7)               
Commercial 14,524     15,316     15,658     (5.2)               (2.2)               
Industrial 396          521          440          (24.0)             18.4              
Other 1              2              7              (50.0)             (71.4)             

Total retail 61,026     63,834     65,441     (4.4)               (2.5)               
Transportation 80,239     83,217     113,322   (3.6)               (26.6)             

Total gas sales volume 141,265   147,051   178,763   (3.9)               (17.7)             

% Change

Gas Throughput Volumes (000's of Dth)
Weather Normalized
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day to the current temperature, and if the current temperature is 2.2% higher or lower than the
historical average the Company will either surcharge (due to lower throughput) or discount (due to
greater throughput) the customer.

Gas revenues increased $28 million (3.6%) in the current year. This increase is primarily a result of
higher gas prices being passed through to the customers, partially offset by a decrease in
throughput. 

■ The commodity cost portion of revenue represents the recovery of the purchased gas costs
and the increase in the revenue mirrors the increase in purchased gas expense. As such, the
commodity cost revenue has no impact on gas margin or net income. 

■ Delivery revenue represents the income from distribution of gas and does impact the
Company’s margin. The decrease in delivery revenue comparing fiscal year 2005 to fiscal year
2004 is primarily due to lower gas throughput. 

■ Other gas revenue is primarily related to the recovery of costs associated with the gross-
receipts tax and state income tax, which, like purchased gas expense, is fully recoverable
from customers. The increase in Other is primarily due to the fiscal 2005 year not including an
adjustment related to the state net income tax which was included in the prior year (discussed
above in gas margin).

Gas revenues increased $71 million (10%) in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004. The increase
was primarily a result of higher gas prices being passed through to customers, partially offset by a
decrease in throughput. 

Gas purchased expense increased approximately $31 million (6.5%) in the current year compared
to the prior year. This increase is primarily a result of increased gas prices during the year. The
Company’s net cost per Dth, as charged to expense, increased to $7.12 in the year ended March
31, 2005 from $6.61 in the prior year. This increase in price was slightly offset by decreased pur-
chases. Gas purchased expense has no impact on the Company’s net income as all gas com-
modity costs are recoverable from customers through a regulatory deferral mechanism in effect.

Gas purchased expense increased approximately $85 million (21.5%) in the fiscal year ended
March 31, 2004 compared to the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003. The increase was primarily a
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2005 2004 2003 $ Change % Change $ Change % Change

Retail 
Residential 521,593$     513,631$     465,029$     7,962$         1.6               48,602$       10.5             
Commercial 160,768       154,806       137,908       5,962           3.9               16,898         12.3             
Industrial 3,482           4,103           3,038           (621)             (15.1)           1,065           35.1             
Other 44,479         26,670         25,727         17,809         66.8             943              3.7               

Total retail 730,322       699,210       631,702       31,112         4.4               67,508         10.7             
Transportation 77,693         80,390         76,911         (2,697)          (3.4)             3,479           4.5               

Total revenue 808,015$     779,600$     708,613$     28,415$       3.6               70,987$       10.0             

FY05 vs FY04 FY04 vs FY03

Revenue by Customer Type 
($'s in 000's)

2005 2004 2003 $ Change % Change $ Change % Change
Retail 

Commodity cost 509,543$     478,647$     393,796$     30,896$       6.5               84,851$       21.5             
Delivery 199,145       201,503       207,944       (2,358)          (1.2)             (6,441)          (3.1)             
Other 21,634         19,060         29,962         2,574           13.5             (10,902)        (36.4)           

Total retail 730,322       699,210       631,702       31,112         4.4               67,508         10.7             
Transportation 

Delivery 76,959         79,415         75,518         (2,456)          (3.1)             3,897           5.2               
Other 734              975              1,393           (241)             (24.7)           (418)             (30.0)           

Total transportation 77,693         80,390         76,911         (2,697)          (3.4)             3,479           4.5               
Total revenue 808,015$     779,600$     708,613$     28,415$       3.6               70,987$       10.0             

FY05 vs FY04 FY04 vs FY03

Revenue by Component
($'s in 000's)
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result of increased gas prices during the year. The Company’s net cost per Dth, as charged to
expense, increased to $6.61 in the year ended March 31, 2004 from $5.57 in the prior year. This
increase in price was slightly offset by decreased purchases. Quantities purchased and withdrawn
from storage were down 3.6 million Dth. 

OPERATING EXPENSES 
Contract termination and nuclear shutdown charges increased approximately $4 million (3%) in
the current year. As part of generation deregulation in New England, NEP divested its generation
assets, which included the transfer of long-term purchased power contracts. The Company’s CTC
reflects the above market costs of the contracts that were transferred at divestiture and the
Company’s share of ongoing decommissioning and shutdown costs associated with its ownership
of three permanently shutdown nuclear plants in New England. Both the contract termination and
nuclear shutdown costs are fully provided for in rates and do not affect electric margin or net
income. The increase is primarily due to an increase in nuclear decommissioning costs in fiscal
2005 compared with the prior year.

Contract termination and nuclear shutdown charges decreased approximately $16 million (10%) 
in the twelve months ended March 31, 2004. The decrease was caused by reduced ongoing 
payments for purchased power due primarily to the buyout of a purchased power contract in
November 2002. Also contributing to the decrease was reduced purchased power expense for
the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 as compared with the prior year due to the sale of Vermont
Yankee in July 2002. Partially offsetting the decreases was an increase in nuclear shutdown
expenses due to the resumption of decommissioning billings by Yankee Atomic in June 2003.

Other operation and maintenance expense for the Company decreased approximately $221
million (14%) and increased approximately $52 million (3%) for the fiscal years ended March 31,
2005 and 2004, respectively. The table below details components of these fluctuations.

Period costs 
These costs include employment costs (including pension expense) and other costs incurred in
maintaining the electricity transmission and distribution systems, and the gas distribution system.

■ Payroll expense has decreased due to staffing reductions through the voluntary early retire-
ment programs that occurred in fiscal 2004. Fiscal year 2005 represents a full year of the sav-
ings associated with these programs.

■ The increase in employee benefits comparing fiscal year 2004 to fiscal year 2003 was 
primarily due to a decrease in the discount rate used to calculate the expense and the 
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2005 2004 2003 $ Change % Change $ Change % Change
Period costs:

Payroll expense 490,422$     548,524$     553,961$     (58,102)$      (10.6)           (5,437)$        (1.0)             
Pension benefits 59,468         55,173         28,202         4,295           7.8               26,971         95.6             
Other employee benefits 113,981       114,551       117,921       (570)             (0.5)             (3,370)          (2.9)             
Bad debt 69,875         85,028         67,306         (15,153)        (17.8)           17,722         26.3             
Rent and leases 40,806         39,520         43,713         1,286           3.3               (4,193)          (9.6)             
Insurance 35,006         46,467         36,480         (11,461)        (24.7)           9,987           27.4             
Regulatory commission fees 24,711         22,507         19,866         2,204           9.8               2,641           13.3             
Other 210,486       183,873       186,805       26,613         14.5             (2,932)          (1.6)             

Total period costs 1,044,755    1,095,643    1,054,254    (50,888)        (4.6)             41,389         3.9               
Pass-through items:

Energy efficiency costs 111,498       112,817       105,542       (1,319)          (1.2)             7,275           6.9               
Transmission expenses 181,076       158,721       192,273       22,355         14.1             (33,552)        (17.5)           

Total pass-through items 292,574       271,538       297,815       21,036         7.7               (26,277)        (8.8)             
Integration-related costs:

ERP system implementation costs 14,787         18,813         9,147           (4,026)          (21.4)           9,666           105.7           
Voluntary early retirement program (25,112)        116,857       -                   (141,969)      (121.5)         116,857       100.0           
Other integration related costs 26,965         36,171         46,978         (9,206)          (25.5)           (10,807)        (23.0)           

Total integration-related costs 16,640         171,841       56,125         (155,201)      (90.3)           115,716       206.2           
Atypical costs:

April 2003 ice storm -                   5,700           -                   (5,700)          (100.0)         5,700           100.0           
Pension settlement (recovery)/losses (14,485)        23,144         29,548         (37,629)        (162.6)         (6,404)          (21.7)           
Loss on sale of properties 7,200           -                   -                   7,200           100.0           -                   -                  
CWIP write-off -                   -                   18,960         -                   -                  (18,960)        (100.0)         
New York bad debt write-off -                   -                   42,376         -                   -                  (42,376)        (100.0)         
Seabrook nuclear generation facility expenses -                   -                   16,705         -                   -                  (16,705)        (100.0)         

Total atypical costs (7,285)          28,844         107,589       (36,129)        (125.3)         (78,745)        (73.2)           
Total other operating and maintenance 1,346,684$  1,567,866$  1,515,783$  (221,182)$    (14.1)           52,083$       3.4               

Other Operations & Maintenance Expense ($'s in 000's)
FY05 vs FY04 FY04 vs FY03
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effects of the decreased  value of the plan assets due to poor market performance (primarily
in the equities market).

■ The decrease in bad debt expense for the year ended March 31, 2005 was mainly the result
of improved collections in New York. 

■ Insurance expense decreased primarily due to decreased third-party claims against the
Company, decreases in employee accident claims and an expanded emphasis on safety 
practices, partially offset by higher insurance premiums due to insurance market conditions.

■ Regulatory commission fees are fees paid to the FERC and the state utility commissions 
having jurisdiction. 

Pass-through items
These costs do not affect operating income or net income as they are recovered through reconcil-
ing rate adjustments or are deferred under the Company’s rate plans.

■ Energy conservation expenses include New England’s costs incurred for programs to reduce
energy consumption by customers through various energy efficiency programs. The New
England retail distribution companies manage their own energy efficiency programs while the
New York program is managed by the New York State Energy Research and Development
Authority which assesses the Company a fee. 

■ Transmission expenses represent New England transmission costs (wheeling, load dispatch-
ing, substations, etc) that are recoverable through rate agreements. The $22 million increase
during fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004 is primarily related to wheeling (transmitting
Company electricity over transmission lines owned by other utilities) and due to retail 
electric customers migrating to competitive suppliers for their commodity requirements.

Integration-related costs
■ Enterprise resource planning system implementation costs reflect non-capitalizable costs for

new information systems that were implemented on May 1, 2004. 

■ Voluntary early retirement program costs reflect the special termination benefits offered to
employees to reduce staffing redundancies. During fiscal year 2005, Narragansett Electric was
permitted recovery approximately $23 million of its pension and post retirement benefit obliga-
tions other than pension cost that had been expensed in fiscal year 2004.

■ Other costs related to the Company’s integration of Niagara Mohawk, such as severance pay,
building consolidations, etc. 

Atypical costs
These items are expenses that the Company considers outside the scope of normal recurring costs.

■ In April 2003 the Company experienced an ice storm in its upstate New York service territory
which resulted in excessive repair and power restoration costs beyond normal storm costs.

■ Pension settlement losses have resulted primarily from significant lump-sum cash withdrawals
made by retirees of Niagara Mohawk. The pension settlement loss recovery of $14 million
reflects the PSC’s July 2004 approval for Niagara Mohawk to recover a portion of the $30 mil-
lion pension settlement loss incurred in fiscal 2003. Niagara Mohawk has petitioned the Public
Service Commission (PSC) for recovery for $21 million of the pension settlement loss that was
recorded to expense in fiscal 2004.   

■ During fiscal year 2005, the Company recognized a loss on the sale of the following three
properties (i) Buffalo Electric building - $3.5 million, (ii) Towpath property - $0.5 million and (iii)
O’Neil building - $3.2 million.

■ The Company recorded a charge of $19 million in fiscal 2003 to write off certain pre-acquisi-
tion Niagara Mohawk projects in its construction work-in-process (CWIP) accounts resulting
from a post-acquisition review of pre-acquisition CWIP projects.

■ The Company adjusted Niagara Mohawk’s estimated allowance for doubtful accounts for 
customer receivable accounts with balances greater than 90 days in arrears which resulted 
in an additional expense of approximately $42 million in fiscal 2003.
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■ Other costs related to the Company’s integration of Niagara Mohawk, such as severance pay,
building consolidations, etc.

Depreciation and amortization remained relatively unchanged in the current year. These expens-
es consist of the depreciation and amortization of the Company’s various electric and gas facilities.

Amortization of stranded costs increased approximately $54 million (20.4%) and $43 million
(19.4%) for the years ended March 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Stranded costs represent
unrecovered costs associated with the Company’s former participation in the electric generation
business. These stranded costs consist primarily of the accrued above-market costs associated
with various purchased power contracts, as well as unrecovered costs of formerly owned genera-
tion assets. At the time these costs were incurred or accrued, they were deferred to a regulatory
asset account to be amortized at a later date. The Company’s revenues currently include an
allowance for the amortization of these costs plus a return. The increase in the expense results
primarily from scheduled amortization under Niagara Mohawk’s rate plan, in which its stranded
costs are amortized unevenly on an increasingly graduated schedule over a ten-year period (which
began January 1, 2002).

Other taxes decreased approximately $21 million (6%) in the current year. The table below details
components of this fluctuation.

Other taxes decreased approximately $21 million (6%) and $26 million (7%) in the years ended
March 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Property taxes in New England have been rising steadily
due to increases in the underlying property values, however, the Company has implemented spe-
cific programs in New England to offset the increases. The decrease in fiscal year 2005 property
taxes in New England is partially due to a tax refund and settlement agreement which provides
credits in relation to property taxes from 2007 to 2012. The decrease in New England property
taxes of $5 million comparing fiscal year 2004 to fiscal year 2003 is primarily due to an overesti-
mation of New England property tax expense in fiscal 2003 by $3 million, which was subsequently
reversed in fiscal 2004.  

Property taxes in New York increased due to increases in the underlying tax rates. The decrease in
New York’s gross receipts taxes (GRT) is due to reductions in the underlying tax rates. GRT is fully
recoverable under the Company’s rate plans and does not impact electric margin, gas margin or
net income. Payroll taxes consist of the employer’s portion of social security and Medicare taxes
and decreased due to a reduction in headcount. 

Income taxes increased approximately $37 million (14%) in the current year primarily due to (i)
increase in book pre-tax income - $129 million, (ii) decrease in return to provision adjustments
(reduction in expense) - $79 million and (iii) other decreases of $13 million.

Income taxes increased approximately $41 million (18%) in year ended March 31, 2004, primarily
as a result of a tax increase of $32.3 million due to the interplay of foreign tax credits in the alter-
native minimum tax calculation. 
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2005 2004 2003 $ Change % Change $ Change % Change
Property taxes

New England-Electric 61,382$       70,188$       75,290$       (8,806)$        (12.5)           (5,102)$        (6.8)             
New York-Electric 133,720       129,490       122,114       4,230           3.3               7,376           6.0               
New York-Gas 33,457         32,759         30,817         698              2.1               1,942           6.3               

Total property taxes 228,559       232,437       228,221       (3,878)          (1.7)             4,216           1.8               
Gross earnings taxes

New England-Electric 30,027         29,735         24,031         292              1.0               5,704           23.7             
New York-Electric 16,031         21,857         52,012         (5,826)          (26.7)           (30,155)        (58.0)           
New York-Gas 9,236           13,123         13,746         (3,887)          (29.6)           (623)             (4.5)             

Total gross earnings taxes 55,294         64,715         89,789         (9,421)          (14.6)           (25,074)        (27.9)           

Sales, Use & Utility taxes 1,427           4,629           9,223           (3,202)          (69.2)           (4,594)          (49.8)           
Payroll taxes 34,989         39,263         39,514         (4,274)          (10.9)           (251)             (0.6)             
Unemployment taxes 1,990           2,399           1,955           (409)             (17.0)           444              22.7             
Other -                   91                398              (91)               (100.0)         (307)             (77.1)           

Total other taxes 322,259$     343,534$     369,100$     (21,275)$      (6.2)             (25,566)$      (6.9)             

FY04 vs FY03FY05 vs FY04
Other taxes ($'s in 000's)
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OTHER INCOME (DEDUCTIONS), INTEREST AND PREFERRED DIVIDENDS
Other income (deductions), net increased $27 million (127%) in the current year. This is primarily
attributable to a $9 million settlement of an estimated liability and an $8 million favorable adjust-
ment to non-utility related income taxes at Niagara Mohawk. 

Other deductions, net decreased $16 million (44%) in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004. This
was primarily attributable to telecom operations which recorded a $17 million charge for the aban-
donment of long-term lease obligations as well as the write-off of obsolete inventory in fiscal 2003
as compared to a charge of $10 million for a telecom-related asset impairment in fiscal 2004. 

Interest expense decreased $39 million (12%) and $101 million (24%) for the years ended March
31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The decreases are primarily due to long-term debt maturing and
the early redemption of third-party debt using affiliated-company debt at lower interest rates. See
“Liquidity and Capital Resources:  Financing Activities” below for a detailed description of the vari-
ous refinancings and redemptions.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

SHORT TERM  
At March 31, 2005, the Company’s principal sources of liquidity included cash and cash equiva-
lents of approximately $355 million and accounts receivable of approximately $1.1 billion. The
Company has a negative working capital balance of $184 million primarily due to long-term debt
due within one year of $568 million and short-term debt due to affiliates of $687 million. Cash is
being generated from sales (via electric rates) to offset stranded cost amortization (non-cash
expense). This excess cash is used for debt payments and other operating needs. As discussed
below, the Company believes it has sufficient cash flow and borrowing capacity to fund such
deficits as necessary in the near term. In addition, construction expenditures planned within one
year are estimated to be $608 million. 

Operating Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities increased approximately $782 million in the current year.
The increase is primarily due to:

■ Increase in net income (see earnings discussion above) of approximately $288 million.

■ Increased stranded cost recovery of $54 million.

■ Increased provision for deferred income taxes of approximately $70 million primarily related to
net operating loss carryforwards.

■ Decreased pension and other retirement benefit plan expense of approximately $113 million.

■ Decreased cash paid to pension and postretirement benefit plan trusts of approximately $171
million primarily due to a one time payment made in fiscal year 2004 related to a settlement
agreement between Niagara Mohawk and the New York PSC that allows Niagara Mohawk to
earn a return on its additional funding.

■ Decrease in the change in accounts receivable and accrued interest and taxes of $60 million
and $34 million respectively (increases in cash).

■ Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses of approximately $164 million.

■ Increases from other changes of approximately $54 million (i.e. changes in materials and sup-
plies, purchased power obligations, etc.). 

Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities increased approximately $71 million in the current year. This
increase was primarily due to an increase in construction additions and an increase in other prop-
erty and investments. Capital expenditures increased approximately $40 million during fiscal year
2005 primarily due to increased transmission utility plant expenditures at NEP. The funds neces-
sary for utility plant expenditures during the period were primarily provided by internal funds.

Financing Activities
Net cash used in financing activities increased approximately $702 million in the current year. This
increase is primarily the result of early redemption of third-party debt with internally generated
funds. Also contributing to the increase was a common dividend paid to the Company’s parent of
$218 million for which there was no similar cash outflow in the prior year.

The Company has been refinancing and redeeming early various issues of debt and preferred
stock and replacing them with lower-cost affiliated-company debt.
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03/31/2005 03/31/2004
Description Company Balance Balance $ Change Activity

Series D Preferred Stock Niagara Mohawk -$               25.1$              (25.1)$             Early redemption 
NYSERDA Tax-exempt Niagara Mohawk 413.8             413.8              -                  Refinanced from adjustable rate to

Pollution Control Bonds variable rate (average 0.99%)
NYSERDA Tax-exempt Niagara Mohawk 45.6               45.6                -                  Refinanced from 6.625% to variable 

Pollution Control Bonds rate (average 1.02%)
8.0% First Mortgage Bonds Niagara Mohawk -                 232.4              (232.4)             Redeemed 
5.38% Senior Notes Niagara Mohawk -                 300.0              (300.0)             Redeemed 
8.52% Series Preferred Stock Massachusetts Electric -                 10.0                (10.0)               Redeemed 
8.45% First Mortgage Bonds Massachusetts Electric -                 10.0                (10.0)               Redeemed 
8.22% First Mortgage Bonds Massachusetts Electric -                 10.0                (10.0)               Redeemed 
7.92% First Mortgage Bonds Massachusetts Electric -                 9.0                  (9.0)                 Redeemed 
8.08% First Mortgage Bonds Massachusetts Electric -                 5.0                  (5.0)                 Redeemed 
8.03% First Mortgage Bonds Massachusetts Electric -                 5.0                  (5.0)                 Redeemed 
8.16% First Mortgage Bonds Massachusetts Electric -                 5.0                  (5.0)                 Redeemed 
8.85% First Mortgage Bonds Massachusetts Electric -                 1.0                  (1.0)                 Redeemed 
8.46% First Mortgage Bonds Massachusetts Electric -                 3.0                  (3.0)                 Redeemed 
5.30% 2004 Series 1996 MIFA Tax Exempt Nantucket Electric -                 1.4                  (1.4)                 Redeemed 
5.875% 2017 Series 1996 MIFA Tax Exempt Nantucket Electric 20.5               10.5                10.0                Redeemed and re-issued
7.42% First Mortgage Bonds Narragansett Electric -                 5.0                  (5.0)                 Redeemed 
8.33% First Mortgage Bonds Narragansett Electric -                 10.0                (10.0)               Redeemed 
8.08% First Mortgage Bonds Narragansett Electric -                 5.0                  (5.0)                 Redeemed 
8.16% First Mortgage Bonds Narragansett Electric -                 5.0                  (5.0)                 Redeemed 
9.26% Series B Hydros 12.1               21.4                (9.3)                 
Notes Payable to affiliated Niagara Mohawk Holdings 1,200.0         1,200.0           -                  Affiliated company borrowings

companies used to fund Niagara Mohawk's
refinancings and redemptions

All other long-term debt & Various companies 2,594.7         2,595.2           (0.5)                 Normal payments/redemptions
preferred stock

4,286.7$       4,928.4$         (641.7)$           
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LONG TERM
The Company’s total capital requirements consist of amounts for its construction programs, work-
ing capital needs and maturing debt issues. Construction expenditure levels for the energy delivery
business are generally consistent from year to year. 

The following table summarizes estimated long-term contractual cash obligations of the Company: 

OTHER REGULATORY MATTERS

Regional Transmission Organizations
Midwest. GridAmerica manages a range of electricity transmission operations on behalf of its three
participant utilities. It is the first multi-system independent transmission company and was formed
under agreements with Ameren, First Energy, Northern Indiana Public Service Company and the
Midwest Independent System Operator (MISO), which was approved by FERC to operate as an
RTO. 

During April 2005, Ameren notified the Company’s electricity transmission business and its fellow
GridAmerica participants that it will withdraw from GridAmerica effective November 1, 2005.
Together with FirstEnergy and Northern Indiana Public Service Company, the Company evaluated
GridAmerica’s viability given the current industry environment, their respective long-term corporate
strategies and Ameren’s departure, and ultimately agreed to cease GridAmerica operations also
effective November 1, 2005.

NEW YORK PSC MATTERS
The New York PSC has issued orders that will or may have an impact on Niagara Mohawk.

Pension settlement loss  
In July 2004, Niagara Mohawk obtained PSC approval that would provide rate recovery for
approximately $14 million of the $30 million pension settlement loss incurred in fiscal 2003. In
addition, the agreement covers the funding of the entire settlement loss to benefit plan trust funds.
Niagara Mohawk has filed a petition with the PSC seeking recovery of a $21 million pension settle-
ment loss incurred in fiscal year 2004.  For further discussion of the settlement losses see
Footnote G – “Employee Benefits” of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Pension and post-retirement benefits costs
In August 2003, the New York State PSC approved a settlement with Niagara Mohawk 
following an audit that identified reconciliation issues between the rate allowance and actual 
costs of Niagara Mohawk’s pension and other post-retirement benefits. The settlement resolved all
issues associated with those obligations for the period prior to its acquisition by National Grid and,
among other things, covered the funding of Niagara Mohawk’s pension and post-retirement bene-
fit plans. As part of the settlement, Niagara Mohawk provided $100 million of tax-deductible fund-
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Payment due in:

($'s in millions) 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 Thereafter Total

Long-term debt 568$        302$        207$        687$       357$       2,113$      4,234$     
Electric purchase power commitments 1,745       1,064       1,050       1,065      869         3,057        8,850       
Gas supply commitments 255          114          52            5             5             10             441          
Derivative swap commitments* 204          196          183          36           -          -            619          
Expected pension and post-retirement

trust funding** 234          N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 234          
Interest on long-term debt*** 157          119          101          75           54           N/A 506          
Construction expenditures**** 608          N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 608          

Total contractual cash obligations 3,771$     1,795$     1,593$     1,868$    1,285$    5,180$      15,492$   

* Forecasted, actual amounts could differ based on changes in market conditions.
** These are expected contributions to Company's pension and post-retirement benefit

plans' trusts, not the minimum funding requirement.
*** Forecasted, actual amounts could differ based on changes in market conditions.

Amounts beyond five years are not forecasted.
**** Budgeted amount in which substantial commitments have been made.  Amounts 

beyond 1 year are budgetary in nature and not contractual obligations and are therefore 
not included.
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ing by the end of fiscal 2003 and an additional $209 million of tax-deductible funding by the end
of fiscal 2004. Under the settlement, Niagara Mohawk will earn a rate of return of at least 6.60
percent (nominal) on the $209 million of funding through December 31, 2011 and is eligible to
earn 80 percent of the amount by which the rate of return on the pension and post-retirement
benefit funds exceeds 5.34 per cent (nominal) measured as of that date.

Elevated equipment voltage
The PSC issued an order on January 5, 2005, requiring all electric utilities in the state to test
annually all of their publicly accessible transmission and distribution facilities for elevated equip-
ment voltage and perform visual inspections of all facilities on a five-year schedule. The order
contains strict compliance requirements and potential financial penalties for failure to achieve test-
ing and inspection targets. Failure to meet the annual target for performing tests will result in a
0.75% reduction in return on equity, as will failure to meet the annual target for inspections. The
costs to comply with this order are expected to be significant. Under its existing rate plan, Niagara
Mohawk is eligible to recover through rates that portion of its costs that the PSC considers incre-
mental. Niagara Mohawk, together with other utilities, has filed for rehearing on certain aspects of
this order, including a request for more time to test remote areas of the service territory, a chal-
lenge to the PSC authority to impose penalties for non-compliance, and clarification that the PSC
did not intend to impose a different standard for cost recovery for these programs than is other-
wise specified in Niagara Mohawk’s pre-existing rate plan, among other clarifications. In February
2005, Niagara Mohawk filed plans for testing and inspections as required by the PSC and a peti-
tion to request an extended schedule to complete testing. 

Wholesale supplier bankruptcy settlement
Pursuant to terms of a settlement reached in the USGen New England Inc. (USGen) bankruptcy
proceeding, New England Power (NEP), on behalf of it and other NGUSA subsidiaries, received
$195 million (amount received on June 8, 2005 and June 9, 2005) representing the settlement of
its claims relating to (a) USGen’s breach of its obligations under transferred purchased power con-
tracts, high voltage direct current (HVDC) support contracts and indemnification obligations, (b)
disputes under the standard offer supply contracts and (c) pre-bankruptcy petition obligations.
As a result of the bankruptcy, USGen returned to NEP obligations it had assumed under seven
power purchase contracts and the Hydro-Quebec Interconnection agreement, and terminated its
indemnification for any potential site-related liabilities for generating units NEP had sold to USGen.
Because costs arising from these obligations are recoverable through its contract termination
charges (CTC), the settlement proceeds will be credited to the CTC. In June, NEP submitted a
plan to implement such a CTC credit with the parties in Massachusetts, Rhode Island and New
Hampshire. The plan provides for the $195 million to be used to pay off a portion of any unrecov-
ered fixed stranded assets and trigger payments made under power purchase contracts, to signif-
icantly reduce the CTCs and provide for a declining CTC in the future. This plan avoids dramatic
swings in the CTC that would result from crediting the entire amount of settlement proceeds
through the CTC in a single year. While the state commissions do not have jurisdiction over the
CTC, which is a Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) approved rate, NEP is seeking the
agreement of the CTC parties before ultimately filing the plan for approval with the FERC.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

■ Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

■ Consolidated Statements of Income and Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
for the years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

■ Consolidated Statements of Retained Earnings for the years ended March 31, 2005, 2004
and 2003

■ Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2005 and 2004

■ Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 

■ Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Stockholder and Board of Directors of National Grid USA:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated state-
ments of income, of comprehensive income, of retained earnings and of cash flows present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial position of National Grid USA and its subsidiaries at March
31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended March 31, 2005 in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with the stan-
dards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for
our opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Boston, Massachusetts

May 18, 2005, except for the NEP section of Note B and the Town of Norwood Dispute section of Note C, as to which the
dates are June 9, 2005 and July 22, 2005, respectively 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NATIONAL GRID USA AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
Consolidated Statements of Income

(In thousands of dollars)

For the years ended March 31,
2005 2004 2003

Operating revenues:
Electric 6,263,607$      6,414,325$      6,095,355$      
Gas 808,015 779,600 708,613

Total operating revenues 7,071,622 7,193,925 6,803,968
Operating expenses:

Purchased energy:
Electricity purchased 2,911,101 3,145,135 2,770,256
Gas purchased 509,543 478,647 393,796
Contract termination and nuclear shutdown charges 149,140 145,517 161,583

Other operation and maintenance 1,346,684 1,567,866 1,515,783
Depreciation and amortization 382,758 375,995 378,195
Amortization of stranded costs 318,844 264,824 221,809
Other taxes 322,259 343,534 369,100
Income taxes (Note H) 306,229 269,667           228,729           

Total operating expenses 6,246,558 6,591,185 6,039,251
Operating income 825,064 602,740 764,717

Other income (deductions), net 5,675 (21,085) (37,523)
Operating and other income 830,739 581,655 727,194           

Interest:
Interest on long-term debt 207,791 263,616 370,597
Other interest 69,250 51,955 46,303

Total interest expense 277,041 315,571 416,900
Net income 553,698$         266,084$         310,294$         

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(In thousands of dollars)

For the years ended March 31,
2005 2004 2003

Net income 553,698$         266,084$         310,294$         
Other comprehensive income:

Unrealized gains (losses) on securities, net of taxes 526 7,457 (3,885)
Hedging activity, net of taxes 9,787 2,425 600
Change in additional minimum pension liability, net of taxes (4,629) 67,292 (249,075)

Total other comprehensive income (loss) 5,684 77,174 (252,360)
Comprehensive income 559,382$         343,258$         57,934$           

Consolidated Statements of Retained Earnings
(In thousands of dollars)

For the years ended March 31,
2005 2004 2003

Retained earnings at beginning of period 648,255$         388,454$         317,183$         
Net income 553,698           266,084           310,294           
Dividends on preferred stock (3,461)              (5,095)              (6,624)              
Dividends on common stock (218,100)          -                       (233,000)          
Loss on redemption of preferred stock -                       (1,194)              604                  
Other (291)                 6                      (3)                     

Retained earnings at end of period 980,101$         648,255$         388,454$         
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2005 2004
ASSETS

Utility plant, at original cost:
Electric plant 10,531,420$    10,170,487$    
Gas plant 1,517,804        1,477,977        
Common plant 378,418           358,341           
Construction work-in-process 175,879           213,702           

Total utility plant 12,603,521      12,220,507      
Less:  accumulated depreciation and amortization (3,972,348)       (3,820,799)       

Net utility plant 8,631,173        8,399,708        
Goodwill, net of amortization 3,237,049        3,232,125        
Pension intangible 54,888             26,439             
Other property and investments 412,637           394,300           
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 354,578           243,085           
Restricted cash (Note A) 15,288             17,204             
Accounts receivable (less reserves of $147,597 and 1,117,729        1,084,886        

$142,175, respectively, and includes receivables from
associated companies of $6,806 and $3,431, respectively)

Materials and supplies, at average cost:
Gas storage 3,498               11,226             
Other 42,602             33,872             

Derivative instruments 35,326             24,393             
Prepaid taxes 16,748             -                   
Current portion of accumulated deferred income taxes Note H) 340,837           248,642           
Current portion of regulatory assets (Note B) 308,044           287,011           
Other 36,381             24,030             

Total current assets 2,271,031        1,974,349        
Other non-current assets:

Regulatory assets (Note B) 6,034,286        6,330,205        
Other 70,875             88,233             

Total non-current assets 6,105,161        6,418,438        
Total assets 20,711,939$    20,445,359$    

March 31, 

NATIONAL GRID USA AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands of dollars)
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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2005 2004
CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES

Capitalization:
Common stockholder's equity:

Common stock ($.10 par value) -$                 -$                 
Authorized - 3,000 shares
Issued and outstanding - 1,000 shares

Additional paid-in capital 7,099,046 7,099,046
Retained earnings 980,101 648,255
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (Note D) (172,161) (177,845)

Total common stockholder's equity 7,906,986        7,569,456        
Minority interest in subsidiaries 19,551 21,084
Cumulative preferred stock (Note K) 52,317 77,633
Long-term debt (Note I) 2,464,058 3,050,315
Long-term debt to affiliates (Note I) 1,200,000 1,200,000

Total capitalization 11,642,912      11,918,488      
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 588,200 536,773
Customers' deposits 34,061 32,873
Accrued interest 70,979 84,912
Accrued taxes -                       14,821
Short-term debt due to affiliates 687,168 452,436
Current portion of long-term debt 567,725 597,230
Current portion of swap contracts liability 203,558 182,000
Current portion of purchased power obligations (Note C) 104,486 105,011
Other 198,881 193,195

Total current liabilities 2,455,058        2,199,251        
Other non-current liabilities:

Accumulated deferred income taxes 2,204,833 1,953,477
Unamortized investment tax credits 74,331 80,158
Accrued Yankee nuclear plant costs (Note C) 221,540 269,940
Purchased power obligations (Note C) 189,126 293,295
Liability for swap contracts (Note E) 415,394 533,367
Accrued employee pension and other benefits (Note G) 607,895 639,290
Additional minimum pension liability (Note G) 290,145 239,623
Environmental remediation costs (Note C) 604,540 418,185
Nuclear fuel disposal costs (Note C) 145,562 143,265
Regulatory liabilities (Note B) 1,427,513 1,357,543
Other 433,090 399,477

Total other non-current liabilities 6,613,969        6,327,620        
Total capitalization and liabilities 20,711,939$    20,445,359$    

March 31, 

NATIONAL GRID USA AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands of dollars)
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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2005 2004 2003
Operating activities:

Net income 553,698$         266,084$         310,294$         
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 382,758           375,995           378,195           
Amortization of stranded costs 318,844           264,824           221,809           
Provision for deferred income taxes 220,121           150,422           128,507           
Pension and other retirement benefit plan expense 168,689           281,471           258,903           
Cash paid to pension and other retirement benefit

plan trusts (200,084)          (370,823)          (214,129)          
Adjustments to goodwill (4,924)              (2,028)              5,325               
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Change in accounts receivable, net (32,843)            (93,304)            30,772             
Change in materials and supplies (1,002)              (5,978)              3,279               
Change in prepaid taxes (16,748)            -                   7,209               
Change in accounts payable and accrued expenses 58,301             (105,432)          64,978             
Change in accrued interest and taxes (28,754)            (63,192)            40,601             
Change in pension and postretirement regulatory assets 3,472               (5,432)              83,776             
Change in purchased power obligations (104,694)          (111,621)          (151,533)          
Other, net 39,589 (6,383) (116,313)

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,356,423 574,603 1,051,673

Investing activities
Construction additions (592,160)          (552,293)          (470,796)          
Sale of assets 7,649               11,977             332,300           
Change in restricted cash 1,916               8,399               (12,957)            
Other, net (28,271) (8,050) 26,114

Net cash used in investing activities (610,866) (539,967) (125,339)

Financing activities
Dividends paid on preferred stock (3,461)              (5,095)              (6,624)              
Dividends paid on common stock (218,100)          -                   (233,000)          
Dividends paid on common stock of minority interests (4,918)              (3,801)              (4,097)              
Reductions in long-term debt (669,267)          (1,812,085)       (776,169)          
Proceeds from long-term debt 52,775             1,659,360        -                   
Redemption of preferred stock (25,316)            (40,495)            (1,712)              
Buyback of minority interest common stock (6,730)              (3,454)              (3,717)              
Net change in short-term debt to affiliates 234,732           273,134           106,350           
Other, net 6,221 6 -                   

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (634,064) 67,570 (918,969)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 111,493           102,206           7,365               
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 243,085 140,879 133,514
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 354,578$         243,085$         140,879$         

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Interest paid 285,578$         366,489$         404,588$         
Taxes paid 108,129 188,608 13,585

NATIONAL GRID USA AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow

(In thousands of dollars)

For the years ended March 31,
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE A - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. Nature of Operations:
National Grid USA (the Company) is a public utility holding company headquartered in
Westborough, Massachusetts. The Company’s regulated subsidiaries are engaged in the transmis-
sion, distribution, and sale of electricity and natural gas. The Company’s electricity and gas distri-
bution subsidiaries serve approximately 3.9 million customers in New York State, Massachusetts,
Rhode Island and New Hampshire. The Company’s transmission subsidiaries provide electricity
transmission in New York through Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation (Niagara Mohawk) and in
New England principally through New England Power Company (NEP) and The Narragansett
Electric Company. In addition, in the Midwest, GridAmerica manages a range of electricity trans-
mission operations on behalf of its three participant utilities. Effective November 1, 2005,
GridAmerica will cease operations. Unregulated subsidiaries are engaged in the construction and
leasing of telecommunications infrastructures and energy-related consulting.

2. Basis of Presentation:
The Company’s accounting policies conform to generally accepted accounting principles in the
United States of America (US GAAP), including accounting principles for rate-regulated entities
with respect to the Company’s transmission, distribution and gas operations (regulated sub-
sidiaries), and are in accordance with the accounting requirements and ratemaking practices of
the regulatory authorities having jurisdiction (see below).

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all of its wholly-
owned subsidiaries and minority interests. All intercompany transactions and balances between
consolidated subsidiaries have been eliminated.

National Grid USA owns approximately 53.7 percent of the outstanding common stock of both
New England Hydro Transmission Electric Company, Inc. and New England Hydro-Transmission
Corporation (together, the Hydro Transmission companies). The Hydro-Transmission companies
own and operate an international transmission interconnection between Hydro-Quebec and New
England. The consolidated financial statements include 100 percent of the assets, liabilities, and
earnings of the Hydro Transmission companies. Minority interests, which represent the minority
stockholders' proportionate share of the equity and income of the Hydro Transmission companies,
have been separately disclosed on the National Grid USA consolidated balance sheets and state-
ments of income.

NEP has a minority ownership interest in each of three regional nuclear generating companies
which own generating facilities which are permanently shut down. NEP accounts for these owner-
ship interests under the equity method.

3. Use of Estimates:
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to make estimates that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of asset recovery and contingent liabili-
ties as of the date of the balance sheets, and revenues and expenses for the period. These esti-
mates may differ from actual amounts if future circumstances cause a change in the assumptions
used to calculate these estimates.

4. Regulation:
The Company’s regulated subsidiaries and certain unregulated subsidiaries are subject to regula-
tion by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) under the Public Utility Holding Company
Act of 1935, as amended (PUHCA). The regulated subsidiaries must also comply with the rules
prescribed by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) and the applicable state utility
commissions of New York, Massachusetts, Rhode Island and New Hampshire. See Note B –
“Rate and Regulatory Issues.” NEP and Niagara Mohawk, file reports with the SEC under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

5. Goodwill:
The acquisition of the Company by National Grid Transco (NGT), and the subsequent acquisitions
by the Company of Eastern Utilities Associates (EUA) and Niagara Mohawk, were accounted for
by the purchase method, the application of which includes the recognition of goodwill. Goodwill
was approximately $3.2 billion at March 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. In accordance with the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(SFAS) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, the Company reviews its goodwill annual-
ly for impairment and when events or circumstances indicate that the asset may be impaired. The
Company utilized a discounted cash flow approach incorporating its most recent business plan
forecasts in the performance of the annual goodwill impairment test. Upon the annual analysis at
March 31, 2005, management determined that no adjustment to the goodwill carrying value was
required.

6. Electric and Gas Utility Revenue:
The Company’s regulated subsidiaries charge customers for electric and gas service in accor-
dance with rates approved by the FERC and the applicable state regulatory commissions. 

All of the Company’s distribution subsidiaries, except for Granite State Electric, follow the policy of
accruing the estimated amount of base rate revenues for electricity delivered but not yet billed
(unbilled revenues), to match costs and revenues more closely. The distribution subsidiaries record
revenues in amounts management believes to be recoverable pursuant to provisions of approved
settlement agreements and state legislation. The distribution subsidiaries normalize the difference
between revenue and expenses from energy conservation programs, commodity purchases,
transmission service and contract termination charges (CTCs). The unbilled revenue included in
accounts receivable at March 31, 2005 and 2004 was approximately $154 million and $169 mil-
lion, respectively.

Pursuant to Niagara Mohawk’s 2000 multi-year gas settlement (ending December 2004), changes
in accrued unbilled gas revenues are deferred. At March 31, 2005 and 2004, approximately $7
million and $9 million, respectively, of unbilled gas revenues remain unrecognized in results of
operations. Niagara Mohawk cannot predict when unbilled gas revenues will be allowed to be rec-
ognized in results of operations.

7. Utility Plant:  
The cost of additions to utility plant and replacements of retired units of property are capitalized.
Costs include direct material, labor, overhead and AFUDC (see below). Replacement of minor
items of utility plant and the cost of current repairs and maintenance are charged to expense.
Whenever utility plant is retired, its original cost, together with the cost of removal, less salvage, is
charged to accumulated depreciation.

8. Allowance for Funds Used During Construction (AFUDC):
The utility subsidiaries capitalize AFUDC as part of construction costs. AFUDC represents the
composite interest and equity costs of capital funds used to finance that portion of construction
costs not yet eligible for inclusion in rate base. AFUDC is capitalized in "Utility plant" with offsetting
non-cash credits to “Other income” and “Interest.” This method is in accordance with an estab-
lished rate making practice under which a utility is permitted a return on, and the recovery of, pru-
dently incurred capital costs through their ultimate inclusion in rate base and in the provision for
depreciation. The composite AFUDC rates were approximately 4.8 percent, 4.5 percent and 4.1
percent for the years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

9. Depreciation and Amortization:
Depreciation expense is determined using the straight-line method. The depreciation rates for the
regulated subsidiaries are based on periodic studies of the estimated useful lives of the assets and
the estimated cost to remove them net of salvage value. The regulated subsidiaries use composite
depreciation rates that are approved by the respective state utility commissions. The average
depreciation rates for Property, Plant, and Equipment, by business segment, are presented in the
table below.

Regulatory assets, including those covered by CTCs, are amortized in accordance with the provi-
sions of the regulated subsidiaries rate settlement agreements and therefore are not necessarily
amortized on a straight-line basis. NEP and Niagara Mohawk had deferred certain costs related to
deregulation, including purchased power contract buyouts, and losses on the sale of generation
assets as a regulatory asset (See Note B – “Rate and Regulatory Issues”). Niagara Mohawk’s
costs are being amortized unevenly over ten years with larger amounts being amortized in the lat-
ter years, consistent with projected recovery through rates.

10. Cash equivalents:
The Company classifies short term investments with an original maturity of three months or less as
cash equivalents.

11. Restricted Cash: 
Restricted cash consists of margin accounts for hedging activity, health care claims deposits, New
York State Department of Conservation securitization for certain site cleanup, and a worker’s com-
pensation premium deposit.

Under the Loan and Trust Agreement for the Massachusetts Development Finance Agency Tax
Exempt Electric Utility Revenue Bonds (Nantucket Electric Company Issue), Series 2004A (the
Bonds), the Company established a Construction Fund with the Trustee in which the proceeds
from the Bonds were deposited. The $10 million deposited was to fund the Second Nantucket
Cable Project costs. Disbursements from the Construction Fund may be made by the Trustee to
pay directly or to reimburse the Company for eligible project costs as directed by requisitions
signed by the Company. At March 31, 2005, the Company used $5.8 million of the funds deposit-
ed. This requisition process is the only manner in which project costs may be paid from Bond pro-
ceeds.

12. Income Taxes:
Income taxes have been computed utilizing the asset and liability approach, which requires the
recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the tax consequences of temporary differences.
It does this by applying enacted statutory tax rates applicable to future years to differences
between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of existing assets and liabili-
ties (see Note H – “Income Taxes”).
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Business Segment 2005 2004 2003
Electricity distribution 3.53% 3.55% 3.62%
Electricity transmission 2.56% 2.69% 2.67%
Gas distribution 2.48% 2.49% 2.59%
Other 4.69% 4.62% 4.21%

Average Rate
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

13. Derivatives:  
The Company accounts for derivative financial instruments under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for
Derivatives and Hedging Activities” (FAS 133), and SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of SFAS No.
133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended. Under the provisions of FAS
133, all derivatives except those qualifying for the normal purchase/normal sale exception are rec-
ognized on the balance sheet at their fair value. Fair value is determined using current quoted
market prices. If a contract is designated as a cash flow hedge, the change in its market value is
generally deferred as a component of other comprehensive income until the transaction it is hedg-
ing is completed. Conversely, the change in the market value of a derivative not designated as a
cash flow hedge is deferred as a regulatory asset or liability. A cash flow hedge is a hedge of a
forecasted transaction or the variability of cash flows to be received or paid related to a recog-
nized asset or liability. To qualify as a cash flow hedge, the fair value changes in the derivative
must be expected to offset 80% to 120% of the changes in fair value or cash flows of the hedged
item.

The Company has received approval from the New York State Public Service Commission (PSC)
to establish a regulatory asset or liability for derivative instruments that did not qualify for hedge
accounting and were the result of regulatory rulings.

14. Comprehensive Income (Loss):  
Comprehensive income (loss) is the change in the equity of a company, not including those
changes that result from shareholder transactions. While the primary component of comprehen-
sive income (loss) is reported net income, the other components of comprehensive income (loss)
relate to additional minimum pension liability recognition, deferred gains and losses associated
with hedging activity, and unrealized gains and losses associated with certain investments held as
available for sale (see Note D – “Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss))”.

15. Additional minimum pension liability:  
NEP and Niagara Mohawk recover all costs associated with their qualified pension plans and
therefore do not recognize the additional minimum pension liability (AML) for their qualified plans
as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income, but instead as a regulatory asset. 

16. New Accounting Standards

FAS 123-R
In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment.” This Standard
addresses the accounting for transactions in which a company receives employee services in
exchange for (a) equity instruments of the company or (b) liabilities that are based on the fair value
of the company’s equity instruments or that may be settled by the issuance of such equity instru-
ments. This Standard also eliminates the ability to account for share-based compensation transac-
tions using Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees,” and requires that such transactions be accounted for using a fair-value-based
method. The Standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. The adoption of
this statement will not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of oper-
ations, or cash flows.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FIN 47
In March 2005, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset
Retirement Obligations” (FIN 47). FIN 47 will result in (a) more consistent recognition of liabilities
relating to asset retirement obligations, (b) more information about expected future cash outflows
associated with those obligations and (c) more information about investments in long-lived assets
because additional asset retirement costs will be recognized as part of the carrying amounts of
the assets.

FIN 47 clarifies that the term conditional asset retirement obligation as used in FASB Statement
No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations”, refers to a legal obligation to perform an
asset retirement activity in which the timing and (or) method of settlement are conditional on a
future event that may or may not be within the control of the entity. The obligation to perform the
asset retirement activity is unconditional even though the uncertainty exists about the timing and
(or) method of settlement. Uncertainty about the timing and (or) method of settlement of a condi-
tional asset retirement obligation should be factored into the measurement of the liability when suf-
ficient information exists. FIN 47 also clarifies when an entity would have sufficient information to
reasonably estimate the fair value of an asset retirement obligation.

This statement will be effective for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006 for the Company. The
adoption of FIN 47 is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s results of opera-
tions or its financial position.

FSP 106-2
On December 8, 2003, President Bush signed into law the Medicare Prescription Drug,
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the Act). The Act expands Medicare, primarily by
adding a prescription drug benefit for Medicare-eligibles starting in 2006. The Act provides
employers currently sponsoring prescription drug programs for Medicare-eligibles with a range of
options for coordinating with the new government-sponsored program to potentially reduce pro-
gram cost. These options include supplementing the government program on a secondary payor
basis or accepting a direct subsidy from the government to support a portion of the cost of the
employer’s program. 

Paragraph 40 of the SFAS No. 106, “Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other
Than Pensions” (FAS 106) requires that presently enacted changes in laws impacting employer-
sponsored retiree health care programs which take effect in future periods be considered in cur-
rent-period measurements for benefits expected to be provided in those future periods. Therefore,
under FAS 106 guidance, measures of plan liabilities and annual expense on or after the date of
enactment should reflect the effects of this Act. 

Reclassifications
Certain amounts from prior years have been reclassified on the accompanying consolidated finan-
cial statements to conform to the fiscal 2005 presentation.

NOTE B – RATE AND REGULATORY ISSUES 
The Company’s regulated subsidiaries generally use the same accounting policies and practices
for financial reporting purposes as non-regulated companies under US GAAP. However, actions by
the FERC and the state utility commissions can result in accounting treatment that is different from
that used by non-regulated companies. The Company applies the provisions of the SFAS No. 71,
“Accounting for Certain Types of Regulation” (FAS 71). In accordance with FAS 71, the Company’s
regulated subsidiaries record regulatory assets (expenses deferred for future recovery from cus-
tomers) and regulatory liabilities (amounts provided in current rates to cover costs to be incurred in
the future) on their balance sheets. This permits the regulated subsidiaries to defer certain costs
(because they are expected to be recovered through customer billings) and revenues (because
they are expected to be refunded to customers), which would otherwise be charged to expense
or revenue, when authorized to do so by the regulator. In aggregate, the Company’s regulated
subsidiaries had approximately $6.3 billion and $6.6 billion of regulatory assets at March 31, 2005
and 2004, respectively.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

The following table details the various categories of regulatory assets and liabilities:

Stranded costs:
Certain regulatory assets, referred to as stranded costs, resulted from major fundamental changes
occurring in the public utility industry, most notably the divestiture of generation assets pursuant to
deregulation. Under deregulation, the generation segment of the utility business was opened to
competition in that consumers could choose their generation supplier. Public utilities continued to
control the transmission and distribution of electricity and were encouraged to dispose of genera-
tion assets such as power plants. The net unrecovered costs from the sale of these generation
assets, along with the costs to terminate, restate or amend existing purchase power contracts
were deferred for recovery in rates over future periods. A large portion of these stranded costs are
being recovered through a special rate being charged to customers. Similarly, the recovery of
costs outside of customer rate recovery, but that nevertheless relate to the former generation busi-
ness, are credited back to customers as well to offset stranded costs. For the New England regu-
lated subsidiaries, this mechanism is called the Contract Termination Charge and for Niagara
Mohawk in New York, it is called the Competitive Transition Charge (in both cases, these charges
are called the CTC).

Management believes that future cash flows from charges for electric service under existing rate
plans, including the CTC, will be sufficient to recover the Company’s regulatory assets over the
planned amortization period. This assumes that there will be no unforeseen reduction in demand
and no bypass of the CTC or exit fees. In the event of revenues that are lower than expected
and/or costs that are higher than expected, if the Company determines that its net regulatory
assets are not probable of recovery, it can no longer apply the principles of FAS 71 and would be
required to record an after-tax, non-cash charge against income for any remaining unamortized
regulatory assets and liabilities. If the Company’s subsidiaries could no longer apply FAS 71, the
resulting charge would be material to the Company’s reported financial condition and results of
operations.
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2005 2004
Regulatory assets:

Stranded costs 2,997,281$        3,251,391$        
Purchased power 382,955             549,019             
Swap contract costs 415,394             533,367             
Regulatory tax asset 120,521             195,411             
Deferred environmental restoration costs 594,283             395,960             
Pension and postretirement benefit plans costs 531,366             517,074             
Additional minimum pension liability (see Note G) 252,218             237,286             
Yankee nuclear plant costs 221,540             269,940             
Loss on reacquired debt 87,645               96,333               
LT portion of standard offer under-recovery 42,420               -                     
Other 388,663             284,424             

Total non-current regulatory assets 6,034,286          6,330,205          

Current portion of swap contract costs 203,558             182,000             
Current portion of purchase power buyout costs 104,486             105,011             

Total current portion of regulatory assets 308,044             287,011             
Total regulatory assets 6,342,330$        6,617,216$        

Regulatory liabilities:
Cost of removal reserve (see Note L) (504,819)$          (487,040)$          
Stranded costs and CTC related (209,291)            (246,914)            
Pension and postretirement plans fair value deferred gain (228,138)            (243,185)            
Interest savings deferral (92,534)              (92,534)              
Environmental response fund and insurance recoveries (82,012)              (80,253)              
Storm costs reserve (33,681)              (27,244)              
Other (277,038)            (180,373)            

Total regulatory liabilities (1,427,513)$       (1,357,543)$       

($'s in 000's)
At March 31,
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Rate Agreements:
NEP
New England Regional Transmission Organization (RTO) and Rate Filing: New England Power
Company (NEP) is a participating transmission owner (PTO) in New England’s regional transmis-
sion organization (RTO) which commenced operations effective February 1, 2005. ISO New
England, Inc. (ISO) has been authorized by FERC to exercise the operations and system planning
functions required of RTOs and will be the independent regional transmission provider under the
ISO Open Access Transmission Tariff (ISO-OATT). The ISO-OATT is designed to provide non-dis-
criminatory open access transmission services over the transmission facilities of the PTOs and
recover their revenue requirements. FERC issued two orders in 2004 and two in 2005 that
approved the establishment of the RTO and resolved certain issues concerning the proposed ROE
for New England PTOs. Other return issues were set for hearing. A number of parties, including
NEP, have filed appeals from one or more of those orders with the US Court of Appeals for the
District of Columbia Circuit.

NEP’s currently allowed ROE for transmission assets is 10.25%. Effective on the RTO operations
date of February 1, 2005, NEP’s transmission rates began to reflect a proposed base return on
equity of 12.8%, subject to refund, plus the additional 0.5% incentive return on regional network
service (RNS) rates that FERC approved in March 2004. Approximately 70% of the Company’s
transmission costs are recovered through RNS rates. An additional 1.0% incentive adder is also
applicable to new RNS transmission investment, subject to refund.   

NEP and the other PTOs participated in FERC proceedings to determine outstanding ROE issues,
including base return on equity (ROE) and the proposed 1% ROE incentive for new transmission
investment. On May 27, 2005, the administrative law judge issued an initial decision which con-
cluded that the base ROE should be 10.72% and that NEP and other PTOs are not entitled to the
proposed 1% ROE incentive. All parties will have the opportunity to file a brief on exceptions in
response to the judge’s initial decision. A final FERC order is expected by year end 2005. 

As a result of applying FAS 71, NEP has recorded a regulatory asset for the costs that are recov-
erable from customers through the CTC. At March 31, 2005, this amounted to approximately $0.9
billion, including approximately $0.5 billion related to the above market costs of purchased power
contracts, approximately $0.2 billion related to accrued Yankee nuclear plant costs, and approxi-
mately $0.2 billion related to other net CTC regulatory assets. 

When it divested its generating business, NEP transferred its entitlement to power procured under
several long term contracts (the Contracts) to USGen New England, Inc. (USGen), Constellation
Power Source, Inc. and TransCanada Power Marketing Ltd. (collectively the Buyers). The Buyers
agreed to fulfill NEP's performance and payment obligations under the Contracts. At the same time
NEP agreed to pay the Buyers a fixed amount for the above-market cost of the Contracts. (The con-
tract transferring Contracts to Constellation Power Source has since been terminated because it was
fully performed in accordance with its terms. NEP has since resumed performance and payment
obligations under the Contracts that were transferred to USGen, as described in the paragraph
below.) These fixed payments by NEP were $91 million and $92 million for fiscal years 2005 and
2004, respectively. The net present value of these fixed monthly payments is recorded as a liability
with an equal balance recorded in regulatory assets representing the future collection of the liability
from ratepayers. At March 31, 2005 and 2004, the net present value of the liability for the fixed
monthly payments is approximately $294 million and $398 million, respectively.

USGen had previously filed for bankruptcy protection on July 8, 2003. NEP reached a settlement
with USGen regarding all matters between the parties, which was approved by the bankruptcy
court on December 22, 2004. Under the settlement, on April 1, 2005, the agreement by which
NEP transferred the Contracts to USGen was terminated. NEP resumed the performance and
payment obligations under the Contracts that had been transferred to USGen and removed the
related liability and offsetting regulatory asset for the above market portion of the Contracts with
USGen for approximately $246 million. NEP continues to record a derivative liability of $404 million
for the above market portion of the contracts with an equal offset to a corresponding regulatory
asset. The performance and payment obligations will not materially affect the results of operations,
as NEP will recover the above-market cost of the Contracts from customers through the CTC. In
accordance with the settlement, NEP received proceeds of approximately $195.8 million on June
8, 2005 and June 9, 2005 from USGen. That amount relates in part to the Contracts and NEP
has filed a plan with regulators to credit the $195.8 million to customers through the CTC.  
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

The settlement between NEP and USGen also resolved the Company’s claims with respect to the
Hydro Quebec transmission line agreements (HQ Transmission Line Agreements), under which
USGen was obligated to reimburse NEP for monthly costs of approximately $1 million. As of April
2, 2004, NEP resumed performance and payment under the HQ Transmissions Line Agreements.
NEP’s resumption of performance and payment obligations has not affected the results of opera-
tions, as NEP is recovering any remaining costs of the HQ Transmission Line Agreements from its
customers through the CTC. The payment received from USGen relates in part to the HQ
Transmission Line Agreements and NEP has filed a plan with the regulators for it to credit the
$195.8 to customers through the CTC.

Niagara Mohawk
Niagara Mohawk’s distribution and transmission rates are regulated by the New York Public
Service Commission (PSC) and FERC. As part of the regulatory approval process for the acquisi-
tion of Niagara Mohawk, a 10-year rate plan was approved by the PSC which became effective
on January 31, 2002. Electricity delivery rates were reduced by $152 million and are subject to
only limited adjustments for a period of 10 years. However, Niagara Mohawk will continue to be
able to adjust rates to recover the cost to procure power for customers. Under the plan, rates
were designed so that Niagara Mohawk may earn a return on equity of up to 10.6% after reflect-
ing its share of savings related to the acquisition. Niagara Mohawk is also allowed to earn up to
12.0% if certain customer education targets are met, and half of any earnings in excess of that
amount. Returns above 11.75% are then subject to a sharing mechanism with customers.

Under the plan, gas delivery rates were frozen until the end of the 2004 calendar year, and
Niagara Mohawk now has the right to request an increase at any time, if needed. Under the plan,
rates were designed so that Niagara Mohawk may earn a threshold ROE of up to 10.6%. Niagara
Mohawk is also allowed to earn up to 12.0% if certain customer migration and education goals
are met, and is required to share earnings above this threshold with customers.

Massachusetts Electric Company and Nantucket Electric Company
Under Massachusetts Electric’s long-term rate plan, there is no cap on earnings and no earnings
sharing mechanism until 2010. From May 2000 until February 2005, rates were frozen. In March
2005, a settlement credit in the company’s rates expired, which represents an increase of $10 mil-
lion through February 2006. From March 2006, rates will be adjusted each March until 2009 by
the annual percentage change in average unbundled electricity distribution rates in the northeast-
ern US. In 2010, actual earned savings will be determined and the company will be allowed to
retain 100% of annual earned savings up to $70 million and 50% of annual earned savings
between $70 million and $145 million (all figures pre-tax). Earned savings represents the difference
between calendar year 2008 distribution revenue and the company’s cost of providing service,
including a regional average authorized return. These efficiency incentive mechanisms provide an
opportunity to achieve returns in excess of traditional regulatory allowed returns. Massachusetts
Electric will be allowed to include its share of earned savings in demonstrating its costs of provid-
ing service to customers from January 2010 until May 2020.

In December 2004, the Massachusetts Department of Telecommunications and Energy (MDTE)
approved a comprehensive settlement agreement between Massachusetts Electric, its wholesale
affiliate, NEP, and the Massachusetts Attorney General, which addressed contract termination
charges from NEP to the Company as well as the recovery of certain supply-related costs. For the
Company, the settlement provided for (i) deferred rate recovery of about $66 million of power sup-
ply-related costs (of which $40.5 million has been recognized on the balance sheet at March 31,
2005), with interest, until 2010 and (ii) one-time customer credits of about $10 million, reflecting
$8.5 million of reduced costs due to recent federal tax law changes and $1.4 million to reflect
increased supply costs resulting from reclassifying certain customers from default service to stan-
dard offer service. For NEP, the settlement resolved a broad range of outstanding wholesale rate
issues, including the reasonableness of the proceeds from the litigation and sale associated with
the NEP settlement on the Millstone 3 nuclear generating unit, for a settlement credit of about $10
million.

Nantucket Electric’s distribution rates are linked to Massachusetts Electric’s rates and became
effective on May 1, 2000.

The Narragansett Electric Company
In Rhode Island, Narragansett Electric’s distribution rates are governed by a long-term rate plan.
Between May 2000 and the end of October 2004, rates were frozen and it was permitted to retain
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

100% of its earnings up to an allowed return on equity of 12%. Narragansett kept 50% of earn-
ings between 12% and 13%, and 25% of earnings in excess of 13%. In effect from November
2004 until December 2009, Narragansett Electric has agreed to freeze its rates after an initial
reduction of $10.2 million. Beginning in January 2005, it will be able to keep an amount equal to
100% of its earnings up to an allowed return on equity of 10.5%, plus $4.65 million (pre-tax),
which represents its share of earned savings. Earnings above that amount up to an additional 1%
return on equity are to be shared equally between Narragansett and its customers, while addition-
al earnings will be allocated 75% to customers and 25% to Narragansett. 

Granite State Electric Company
The current rates for Granite State Electric are subject to regulation by the New Hampshire Public
Utilities Commission and became effective in July 1998.

NOTE C – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Environmental issues:
The normal ongoing operations and historic activities of Niagara Mohawk, Massachusetts Electric,
Narragansett Electric, Granite State Electric and NEP are subject to various federal, state and local
environmental laws and regulations. Like most other industrial companies, our transmission and
distribution companies use or generate a broad range of hazardous materials. Under federal and
state Superfund laws, potential liability for the historic contamination of property may be imposed
on responsible parties jointly and severally, without fault, even if the activities were lawful when
they occurred.  

Federal and state environmental regulators, as well as private parties, have alleged that our transmis-
sion and distribution companies are potentially responsible parties under Superfund for the remedia-
tion of over 180 contaminated sites in New England and New York, and for resulting damages. Our
greatest potential Superfund liabilities relate to former manufactured gas plant, or MGP, facilities for-
merly owned or operated by our subsidiaries or their predecessors from the mid 1800s until the
divestiture of generation assets in the mid 1990s. MGP byproducts included fuel oils, hydrocarbons,
coal tar, purifier waste and other waste products that may pose a risk to human health and the envi-
ronment. We are investigating or remediating these sites, or both, as appropriate. 

We believe that our ongoing operations and our response to the impact of our historic operations
are in substantial compliance with environmental laws, and that the obligations imposed on us are
not likely to have a material adverse impact on our financial condition or results of operations
because we recover a majority of these costs under our rate plans. We are pursuing claims
against insurance carriers and potentially responsible parties to recover investigation and remedia-
tion costs, but we cannot predict the success of such claims. To the extent that prudently incurred
costs cannot be recovered through insurance or otherwise, these are recoverable under applicable
rate plans. As of March 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company has recorded an obligation of $605 mil-
lion and $418 million, respectively, along with an offsetting regulatory asset, on its balance sheet.
The increase in the liability follows a recent review and reflects experience by the National Grid
Companies in restoring similar sites. The potential high end of the range at March 31, 2005 is
presently estimated at approximately $632 million.

Decommissioning Nuclear Units:  
NEP has minority interests in three nuclear generating companies: Yankee Atomic Electric
Company, Connecticut Yankee Atomic Power Company, and Maine Yankee Atomic Power
Company (together, the Yankees). These ownership interests are accounted for on the equity
method. The Yankees own nuclear generating units that have been permanently retired and are
conducting decommissioning operations. The three units are as follows:
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NEP's Equity Investment Future Estimated
as of March 31, 2005 Date Billings to NEP

Nuclear Unit % Ownership $ (millions) Retired $ (millions)

Yankee Atomic 34.5 0.3 February 1992 37
Connecticut Yankee 19.5 8.7 December 1996 118
Maine Yankee 24.0 8.7 August 1997 67

National Grid USA Annual Report.qxd  09/12/2005  12:00 PM  Page 38
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With respect to each of these units, NEP has recorded a liability and a regulatory asset reflecting
the estimated future decommissioning billings from the Yankees. In a 1993 decision, the FERC
allowed Yankee Atomic to recover its undepreciated investment in the plant, including a return on
that investment, as well as unfunded nuclear decommissioning costs and other costs. Maine
Yankee and Connecticut Yankee recover their prudently incurred costs, including a return, in
accordance with settlement agreements approved by the FERC in May 1999 and July 2000,
respectively. The Yankees collect the approved costs from their purchasers, including NEP. The
Company’s share of the decommissioning costs is accounted for in “Purchased energy” on the
income statement. Under settlement agreements, NEP is permitted to recover prudently incurred
decommissioning costs through CTCs.

The Yankees are periodically required to file rate cases, presenting the Yankees’ estimates of
future decommissioning costs for FERC approval. Yankee Atomic and Maine Yankee are currently
collecting decommissioning and other costs under FERC Orders issued in their respective rate
cases. Connecticut Yankee is also collecting costs, subject to refund under a rate case now pend-
ing at the FERC, as described below.

Future estimated billings from the Yankees are based on decommissioning cost estimates. These
estimates include the projected costs of decontaminating the units as required by the Nuclear
Regulatory Commission, dismantling the units, security, liability and property insurance and other
costs. They also include costs for interim spent fuel storage facilities, which the Yankees have
constructed during litigation they brought to enforce the Department of Energy’s obligation to
remove the fuel as required by the Nuclear Waste Policy Act of 1982. A trial at the U.S. Court of
Federal Claims to determine the level of damages has concluded and the parties are awaiting an
order. Any damages received by the Yankees would be applied to reduce the decommissioning
and other costs collected from their purchasers. The decommissioning costs that are actually
incurred by the Yankees may exceed the estimated amounts, perhaps substantially.

Connecticut Yankee Rate Filing, Prudence Challenge and Other Proceedings: On July 1,
2004, Connecticut Yankee filed with the FERC seeking a rate increase to reflect increased costs
for decommissioning, pensions and other employment benefits, increased security and insurance
costs and other expenses. In aggregate, the increase amounts to approximately $396 million
through 2010, NEP’s share of which is included in the future estimated billings shown in the table
above. The rate case also reflects the impact of the termination of a fixed price contract with
Bechtel Power Corporation to perform decommissioning operations and projects a substantial
increase in costs over and delay in completion compared with those previously projected. 

The Connecticut Department of Public Utility Control and the Connecticut Office of Consumer
Counsel (together, the Department) have intervened at the FERC requesting that the FERC reject
Connecticut Yankee’s rate filing, or in the alternative, disallow a portion of the requested rate
increase on the ground that $205 million to $235 million of these costs were imprudently incurred.
Bechtel and three New England states have also intervened, asserting that these costs are impru-
dent and should be disallowed. FERC authorized Connecticut Yankee to begin charging the pro-
posed new rates effective February 1, 2005, subject to refund. Hearings on the rate increase filing
at FERC were held in June, initial briefs are due in September, and an initial decision is due in
December.

Prior to Connecticut Yankee’s filing, the Department petitioned the FERC to determine that
Connecticut Yankee’s purchasers, including NEP, were obliged to pay for all of Connecticut
Yankee’s decommissioning costs, whether or not prudent, and could not pass on any imprudent
costs to their retail customers. The FERC denied the petition on the ground that it has no jurisdic-
tion over retail rates. The Department and Bechtel moved for clarification and rehearing. FERC has
not yet ruled on this motion.

Connecticut Yankee and Bechtel are litigating the termination of the fixed price contract in
Connecticut state court, with each party seeking substantial damages. Trial is scheduled to com-
mence in mid-2006.
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Divested Nuclear Units:
Nine Mile Point: On November 7, 2001, Niagara Mohawk sold its nuclear assets to Constellation
Energy Group (Constellation). As of March 31, 2005, Niagara Mohawk has a liability of $146 mil-
lion for the disposal of nuclear fuel irradiated prior to 1983. In January 1983, the Nuclear Waste
Policy Act of 1982 (the Nuclear Waste Act) established a cost of $.001 per KWh of net generation
for current disposal of nuclear fuel and provides for a determination of Niagara Mohawk’s liability
to the DOE for the disposal of nuclear fuel irradiated prior to 1983. The Nuclear Waste Act also
provides three payment options for liquidating such liability and Niagara Mohawk has elected to
delay payment, with interest, until the year in which Constellation initially plans to ship irradiated
fuel to an approved DOE disposal facility. Progress in developing the DOE facility has been slow
and it is anticipated that the DOE facility will not be ready to accept deliveries until at least 2010.

Millstone 3 Prudence Challenge: In November 1999, NEP agreed with Northeast Utilities (NU) to
settle certain claims. As part of the agreement, NU agreed to include NEP’s 16.2 percent owner-
ship interest in Millstone Unit 3 in an auction of NU’s share of the unit. Upon the closing of the
sale, NEP was to receive a fixed amount, regardless of the actual sale price. In March 2001, the
Millstone units were sold, including NEP’s interest, for $1.3 billion. In accordance with the settle-
ment, NEP was paid approximately $25 million for its interest in the unit (plus reimbursement of
pre-paid amounts), from which NEP paid approximately $6.2 million to increase the decommis-
sioning trust fund.

In the past, regulatory authorities from Rhode Island, New Hampshire and Massachusetts
expressed intent to challenge the reasonableness of the settlement agreement on various
grounds, taking the position that NEP would have received approximately $140 million of sale pro-
ceeds if there had been no agreement with NU. The matter has been resolved in New Hampshire
and Massachusetts. In the event that Rhode Island proceeds with a challenge, the dispute will be
resolved by the FERC. Management believes that the Company acted prudently because, among
other reasons, the amount it received under the settlement agreement was the highest sale price
for a nuclear unit at the time the agreement was reached.

Long-Term Contracts for the Purchase of Electric Power: 
The Company’s subsidiaries have several types of long-term contracts for the purchase of electric
power. The Company’s commitments under these long-term contracts, as of March 31, 2005, are
as follows: 

If the Company’s subsidiaries need any additional energy to meet load requirements, they can pur-
chase the electricity from other IPPs, other utilities, other energy merchants or the open market
through the New York Independent System Operator (NYISO) or the New England Independent
System Operator (ISO –NE) at market prices.

Gas Supply, Storage and Pipeline Commitments:
In connection with its regulated gas business, Niagara Mohawk has long-term commitments with
a variety of suppliers and pipelines to purchase gas commodity, provide gas storage capability
and transport gas commodity on interstate gas pipelines.
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Fiscal Year
Ended

March 31, Amount
2006 1,745$              
2007 1,064                
2008 1,050                
2009 1,065                
2010 869                   

Thereafter 3,057                
Total 8,850$              

(In millions of dollars)
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The table below sets forth the Company’s estimated commitments at March 31, 2005, for the
next five years, and thereafter (dollars in millions).

With respect to firm gas supply commitments, the amounts are based upon volumes specified in
the contracts giving consideration for the minimum take provisions. Commodity prices are based
on New York Mercantile Exchange quotes and reservation charges, when applicable. Storage and
pipeline capacity commitments’ amounts are based upon volumes specified in the contracts, and
represent demand charges priced at current filed tariffs. At March 31, 2005, Niagara Mohawk’s
firm gas supply commitments have varying expiration dates, the latest of which is November
2006. The gas storage and transportation commitments have varying expiration dates with the lat-
est being October 2012.

Commodity Reconciliations: As part of Niagara Mohawk’s ongoing reconciliation of commodity
costs and revenues, Niagara Mohawk identified several adjustments for the period from October
1, 2001 through April 30, 2003, and included them in filings with the PSC. Specifically, Niagara
Mohawk requested recovery of $36 million of commodity costs associated with the under-recon-
ciliation of New York Power Authority (NYPA) hydropower revenues in its commodity adjustment
clause, and proposed to refund $24 million associated with other revenues that were not included
in the commodity adjustment reconciliation. Following the filing, the PSC Staff completed a com-
prehensive audit of Niagara Mohawks’ commodity costs and revenues from October 1, 2001
through December 31, 2003, and the Staff and Niagara Mohawk agreed that a refund of $2.8 mil-
lion should be provided to customers through that period. The PSC approved the refund on
December 20, 2004.

Plant Expenditures:
The Company’s utility plant expenditures are estimated to be approximately $608 million in fiscal
2006. At March 31, 2005, substantial commitments had been made relative to future planned
expenditures.
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Fiscal Year
Ended

March 31, Amount
2006 255$                 
2007 114                   
2008 52                     
2009 5                       
2010 5                       

Thereafter 10                     
Total 441$                 
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Legal Matters by Entity:
Niagara Mohawk
Niagara Mohawk Power Corp. v. Huntley Power L.L.C., Dunkirk Power L.L.C. and Oswego
Harbor, L.L.C. Niagara Mohawk previously owned three power plants (the Plants), which it sold to
three affiliates of NRG Energy, Inc. in 1999:  Huntley Power L.L.C., Dunkirk Power L.L.C. and
Oswego Harbor, L.L.C. (collectively, the NRG Affiliates). Niagara Mohawk is in involved in several
proceedings with the NRG Affiliates to recover bills for station service rendered to the Plants. 

The most significant is a proceeding at FERC involving Niagara Mohawk’s complaint against the
NRG Affiliates for failure to pay station service charges Niagara Mohawk assessed under its state-
approved retail tariffs. A state collection action and other proceedings have all been stayed pend-
ing the outcome of the FERC proceeding. As of March 31, 2005, the NRG Affiliates owed Niagara
Mohawk approximately $43.5 million for station service. On November 19, 2004 and April 22,
2005, the FERC issued orders denying Niagara Mohawk’s complaint and found that the NRG
Affiliates do not have to pay state-approved retail rates for station service. Niagara Mohawk has
appealed the orders to the US Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit. The Court has
consolidated this appeal with the two retail bypass cases discussed below. In the event that the
Court upholds the FERC’s orders, the Company would seek recovery under its rate plans of the
station service charges not paid by the NRG Affiliates.

Retail Bypass: A number of generators have complained or withheld payments associated with
Niagara Mohawk’s delivery of station service to their generation facilities, arguing that they should
be permitted to bypass its retail charges. The FERC issued two orders on complaints filed by
Niagara Mohawk’s station service customers in December 2003, allowing two generators to net
their station service electricity over a 30-day period and to avoid state-authorized charges for
deliveries made over distribution facilities. A third order involving affiliates of NRG Energy, Inc. is
discussed above. These orders directly conflict with Niagara Mohawk’s state-approved tariffs and
the orders of the PSC on station service rates. The December 2003 FERC orders, if upheld, will
permit these generators to bypass Niagara Mohawk’s state-jurisdictional station service charges
for electricity, including those set forth in the filing that was approved by the PSC on November
25, 2003. Niagara Mohawk filed for rehearing of these orders, and the FERC denied these
requests in January 2005. Niagara Mohawk has appealed the December 2003 and January 2005
orders to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit. 

In an order dated May 10, 2004, in a related proceeding concerning the NYISO, the FERC reaf-
firmed its reasoning of the December 2003 orders. In so ruling, the FERC indicated that the
NYISO station service order would be limited to merchant generators self-supplying their own
power, and should not be interpreted to apply to self-supplying retail industrial and commercial
customers that do not compete with incumbent utilities for customer load. The Company
appealed the order to the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit on July 9, 2004.
The Court of Appeals has consolidated these appeals for hearing, and briefing is scheduled to be
completed in January 2006. 

These FERC orders have increased the risk that generators will be able to bypass local distribution
company charges (including stranded cost recovery charges) when receiving service through the
NYISO. Although subject to challenge by the PSC Staff and other parties, Niagara Mohawk
believes that if it experiences any lost revenue attributable to retail bypass, it will be permitted to
recover these lost revenues under its Merger Rate Plan.  

New England Power:
Town of Norwood Dispute: From 1983 until 1998, NEP was the wholesale power supplier for
Norwood. In April 1998, Norwood began taking power from another supplier, although its contract
term with NEP ran to 2008. Pursuant to a tariff amendment approved by the FERC in May 1998,
NEP has been assessing Norwood a CTC. Norwood made a payment of approximately $20 mil-
lion in July 2004. NEP and Norwood are engaged in litigation and at the FERC, as follows. 
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State Collection Action: NEP filed a collection action in Massachusetts Superior Court (Worcester
County) to collect the CTC, which Norwood has refused to pay, apart from the initial payment in
2004. In March 2001, the Superior Court ruled that Norwood has breached the agreement by not
paying the CTC charge, and ordered Norwood to make regular and substantial payments to an
escrow account. Following unsuccessful appeals by Norwood, the Superior Court entered judg-
ment for NEP on June 9, 2004 in the amount of approximately $43.3 million, based on amounts
owed through January 31, 2001. Norwood continues to contest the judgment in the Superior
Court and in the Massachusetts Appeals Court.

FERC 206 Proceeding: In December 2002, Norwood challenged the CTC rate with the FERC
under Section 206 of the Federal Power Act, which permits the FERC to make prospective adjust-
ments to filed rates. On June 9, 2004, the FERC administrative law judge issued an initial decision
recommending that FERC revise the CTC formula to reduce the CTC amount that NEP previously
calculated under the formula that FERC accepted and approved in 1998. NEP challenged this ini-
tial decision, arguing that no reduction is appropriate. Norwood and the FERC staff challenged the
initial decision, arguing that the reduction is insufficient. 

On July 22, 2005, the FERC issued an order agreeing with NEP’s calculation of the CTC, but dis-
agreeing with NEP’s calculation of interest due on unpaid bills. NEP intends to seek rehearing on
the interest determination, but will readjust its billing in accordance with FERC’s order pending
rehearing. As of July 2005, Norwood owes NEP approximately $50 million, as calculated under
FERC’s recent order.
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NOTE D – ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Taxes on other comprehensive income for the following periods were (in thousands of $’s):

NOTE E – DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES
In the normal course of business, Niagara Mohawk is a party to derivative financial instruments
(derivatives) that are principally used to manage commodity prices associated with its natural gas
and electric operations. These financial exposures are monitored and managed as an integral part
of Niagara Mohawk’s overall financial risk-management policy. At the core of the policy is a condi-
tion that Niagara Mohawk will engage in activities at risk only to the extent that those activities fall
within commodities and financial markets to which it has a physical market exposure in terms and
volumes consistent with its core business. Niagara Mohawk does not issue or intend to hold
derivative instruments for speculative trading purposes. Derivatives are accounted for according to
SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended (FAS
133), which requires derivatives to be reported at fair value as assets or liabilities on the balance
sheet. Changes in the fair value of instruments that qualify for hedge accounting are deferred in
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income and will be reclassified through purchased electricity
or gas expense in the hedge months. Niagara Mohawk’s rate agreements allow for the pass-
through of the commodity costs of electricity and natural gas, including the costs of the hedging
programs. 

Niagara Mohawk has eight indexed swap contracts, expiring in June 2008 that resulted from the
Master Restructuring Agreement (MRA). These derivatives are not designated as hedging instru-
ments and are covered by regulatory rulings that allow the gains and losses to be recorded as
regulatory assets or regulatory liabilities. As of March 31, 2005 Niagara Mohawk has recorded lia-
bilities of $619 million versus $715.4 million at March 31, 2004 for these swap contracts and has
recorded a corresponding swap contracts regulatory asset. The asset and liability are amortized
over the remaining term of the swaps as nominal energy quantities are settled and are adjusted as
periodic reassessments are made of energy price forecasts. 
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Unrealized Additional Total
Gains and Minimum Accumulated

(in 000's) (Losses) on Pension  Other
Available-for- Liability Cash Flow Comprehensive
Sale Securites Adjustment Hedges Income (Loss)

March 31, 2003 (4,115)$            (251,504)$        600$                (255,019)$        
Other comprehensive income (loss):
     Unrealized gains on securities,
          net of taxes 7,457               7,457               
     Hedging activity, net of taxes 2,425               2,425               
     Change in additional minimum pension liability,
          net of taxes 67,292             67,292             
March 31, 2004 3,342               (184,212)          3,025               (177,845)          
Other comprehensive income (loss):
     Unrealized gains on securities,
          net of taxes 526                  526                  
     Hedging activity, net of taxes 9,787               9,787               
     Change in additional minimum pension liability,
          net of taxes (4,629)              (4,629)              
March 31, 2005 3,868$             (188,841)$        12,812$           (172,161)$        

For the year ended For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, March 31, March 31,

2005 2004 2003
Unrealized gain/(losses) on securities 351$                       4,972$                    (2,590)$                  
Hedging activities 6,525                      1,617                      452                         
Change in additional minimum pension liability (3,086)$                  45,527$                  (165,752)$              
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At March 31, 2005, management projects that Niagara Mohawk will make the following payments
in connection with its swap contracts for the fiscal years 2006 through 2008, subject to changes
in market prices and indexing provisions:

Niagara Mohawk uses New York Mercantile Exchange (NYMEX) gas futures to hedge the gas
commodity component of its indexed swap contracts. These instruments, as used, do not qualify
for hedge accounting status under SFAS 133. Cash flow hedges that are qualified under SFAS
133 are as follows:  NYMEX gas futures for the purchases of natural gas and NYMEX electric
swap contracts hedging the purchases of electricity.

The following table represents the open positions at March 31, 2005 and the results on operations
of these instruments for the year ended March 31, 2005.

At March 31, 2004, Niagara Mohawk recorded a deferred gain on the futures contracts hedging
the IPP swaps and non-MRA IPP of $21.5 million, offset by the balance sheet item “Derivative
Instruments” for $20.3 million with the resulting $2.1 having settled through cash for the hedge
month of April 2004. For the twelve months ended March 31, 2004 settlement of NYMEX futures
contracts resulted in a decrease to purchased power expense of $17.3 million.

The gains and losses on the derivatives that are deferred and reported in accumulated other com-
prehensive income will be reclassified as purchased energy expense in the periods in which
expense is impacted by the variability of the cash flows of the hedged item. For the twelve months
ended March 31, 2005, the net gain of $8 million from hedging instruments, as shown in the table
above, was recorded to gas purchases offset by a corresponding increase in the cost of a compa-
rable amount of gas. For the twelve months ended March 31, 2004, a net loss of $4.2 million was
recorded to gas purchases offset by a corresponding decrease in the cost of a comparable
amount of gas. 
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Projected
Payment 

Year Ended (in thousands
March 31, of dollars)

2006 203,558$          
2007 196,324            
2008 182,834            
2009 36,236              

618,952$          

Year Ended
Accumulated March 31, 2005

Accumulated Deferred Gain/(Loss)
Regulatory OCI**, Income Tax Reclass to

Derivative Instrument Asset* Deferral net of tax on OCI** Commodity Costs
Qualified for Hedge Accounting

NYMEX futures - gas supply 7,233.4$     -$           (11,861.7)$      (7,907.8)$       7,950.1$              

NYMEX electric swaps - electric supply 1,067.4$     -$           (950.3)$           (633.5)$          43.3$                   

Non-qualified for Hedge Accounting
NYMEX futures - IPP swaps/non-MRA IPP 27,019.7$   (29,865.8)$ -$                -$               19,376.6$            

*    Differences between asset/(liability) and regulatory or OCI deferral represent contracts settled for the 
      following month. 
**  Other comprehensive income (OCI)

(in thousands of dollars)
Balances as of March 31, 2005
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The actual amounts to be recorded in purchased energy expense are dependent on future
changes in the contract values, the majority of these deferred amounts will be reclassified to
expense within the next twelve months. A nominal amount of the hedging instruments extend into
April 2006. There were no gains or losses recorded during the year from the discontinuance of
gas futures or electricity swap cash flow hedges.

At March 31, 2005, Niagara Mohawk recorded a deferred gain on NYMEX electric swap 
contracts to hedge electricity purchases of $1.1 million. There were no open electric swaps 
at March 31, 2004.   

NOTE F – SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Company’s reportable segments are electricity-transmission, electricity-distribution, including
the sub-segment stranded cost recoveries, gas-distribution and telecom. Certain information
regarding the Company segments is set forth in the following table. Corporate assets consist pri-
marily of other property and investments, cash, restricted cash, current deferred income taxes,
and unamortized debt expense. 

NOTE G - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Summary
The National Grid USA companies have non-contributory defined benefit pension plans covering
substantially all employees. With the exception of New England-based union-represented employ-
ees, employees hired on or after July 15, 2002 participate in a cash balance pension plan design.
Under that design, pay-based credits are applied based on service time, and interest credits are
applied based on an average annual 30-year Treasury bond yield. Non-union employees hired by
New England-based companies prior to July 15, 2002 and New England-based union employees
generally participate in the historic final average pay pension plan designs that have been in effect
for several decades. In addition, a large number of employees hired by Niagara Mohawk prior to
July 1998 are cash balance design participants who receive a larger benefit if so yielded under
pre-cash balance conversion final average pay formula provisions. Employees hired by Niagara
Mohawk following the August 1998 cash balance design conversion participate under cash bal-
ance design provisions only.

Supplemental nonqualified, non-contributory executive retirement programs provide additional
defined pension benefits for certain executives.
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(in millions of dollars)

Transmission Distribution

Stranded 
Cost 

Recoveries

Total 
electricity 

distribution
Gas 

Distribution Telecom Corporate Total
Year ended March 31, 2005

Operating revenue 444$              5,008$           785$              5,793$           808$              27$                -$               7,072$           
Operating income before

income taxes 226                568                226                794                105                6                    -                 1,131             
Depreciation and amortization 78                  262                -                 262                37                  6                    -                 383                
Amortization of Stranded Costs -                 -                 319                319                -                 -                 -                 319                

Year ended March 31, 2004
Operating revenue 451$              5,092$           849$              5,941$           780$              22$                -$               7,194$           
Operating income before

income taxes 210                366                223                589                68                  5                    -                 872                
Depreciation and amortization 76                  260                -                 260                36                  4                    -                 376                
Amortization of Stranded Costs -                 -                 265                265                -                 -                 -                 265                

Year ended March 31, 2003
Operating revenue 611$              4,572$           895$              5,467$           709$              17$                -$               6,804$           
Operating income before

income taxes 192                497                232                729                68                  4                    -                 993                
Depreciation and amortization 75                  263                -                 263                36                  4                    -                 378                
Amortization of Stranded Costs -                 -                 222                222                -                 -                 -                 222                

Goodwill
At March 31, 2005 641$              2,252$           -$               2,252$           215$              129$              -$               3,237$           
At March 31, 2004 641$              2,253$           -$               2,253$           215$              123$              -$               3,232$           

Total Assets
At March 31, 2005 3,243$           10,187$         4,598$           14,785$         1,819$           253$              612$              20,712$         
At March 31, 2004 3,056$           10,174$         4,781$           14,955$         1,686$           210$              538$              20,445$         
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The Company and its subsidiaries provide post retirement benefits other than pensions (PBOPs).
PBOP future benefits include health care and life insurance coverage to eligible retired employees.
Eligibility is based on certain age and length of service requirements and in some cases retirees
must contribute to the cost of their coverage. 

Funding Policy
In New England, absent unusual circumstances, the Company’s funding policy is to contribute to
the Plans each year the maximum tax deductible amounts for that year. In New York, the funding
policy is determined largely by the Company’s settlement agreements with the PSC and the
amounts recovered in rates. However, the contribution for any year will not be less than the mini-
mum contribution required by federal law or greater than the maximum tax-deductible amount.

Investment Strategy
The Company manages benefit plan investments to minimize the long-term cost of operating the
Plans, with a reasonable level of risk. Risk tolerance is reviewed based on the results of a periodic
asset/liability study. This study includes an analysis of plan liabilities and funded status and results
in the determination of the allocation of assets across equity and fixed income. Equity investments
are broadly diversified across U.S. and non-U.S. stocks, as well as across growth, value, and
small and large capitalization stocks. Likewise, the fixed income portfolio is broadly diversified
across the various fixed income market segments. For the PBOP obligations other than pension
plan; since the earnings on a portion of the assets are taxable, those investments are managed to
maximize after tax returns consistent with the broad asset class parameters established by the
asset allocations. Investment risk and return is reviewed by the investment committee on a quar-
terly basis.

The target asset allocation for the pension benefit plans are:

The target asset allocation for the PBOP plans are:

Expected Rate of Return on Assets
The estimated rate of return for various passive asset classes is based both on analysis of histori-
cal rates of return and forward looking analysis of risk premiums and yields. Current market condi-
tions, such as inflation and interest rates, are evaluated in connection with the setting of our long-
term assumption. A small premium is added for active management of both equity and fixed
income. The rates of return for each asset class are then weighted in accordance with the plans’
target asset allocation, and the resulting long-term return on asset rate is then applied to the mar-
ket-related value of assets.
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N a t i o n a l  G r i d  U S A  /  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

2005 2004
U.S. Equities 44% 42%
Global Equities (including U.S.) 7% 7%
Non-U.S. Equities 11% 11%
Fixed Income 35% 35%
Private Equity and Property 3% 5%

100% 100%

2005 2004
U.S. Equities 50% 50%
Non-U.S. Equities 15% 15%
Fixed Income 35% 35%

100% 100%
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

The benefit plans’ costs (for all subsidiaries) for the past three years included the following components and used the following assumptions. 
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N a t i o n a l  G r i d  U S A  /  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

(in thousands)
Net periodic benefit cost, for the year ended March 31, 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004

Service cost 50,656$        47,342$          38,998$          690$             647$               563$               22,200$        17,930$          
Interest cost 144,100        146,273          154,127          6,149            6,578              7,133              103,810        98,849            
Expected return on plan assets (165,347)      (160,892)        (177,226)        -                 -                 -                 (73,880)         (60,957)          
Amortization of unrecognized prior service cost 3,459            2,809              1,681              (149)              (149)               (149)               4,678            (687)               
Amortization of unrecognized loss 53,385          43,789            5,511              1,016            582                 103                 36,756          36,531            
Net periodic benefit costs before settlements

and curtailments 86,253          79,321            23,091            7,706            7,658              7,650              93,564          91,666            
Settlement and curtailment loss -                 22,922            29,187            185                222                 361                 -                 16,066            
Special termination benefits -                 91,855            -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 8,936              
Net periodic benefit cost 86,253$        194,098$        52,278$          7,891$          7,880$            8,011$            93,564$        116,668$        

Weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic cost:
Discount rate 5.75% 6.25% 7.50% 5.75% 6.25% 7.50% 5.75% 6.25%
Rate of compensation increase - New England 4.70% 4.63% 4.63% 5.25% 4.63% 5.25% N/A N/A
Rate of compensation increase - New York 3.25% 3.25% 3.25% 5.25% 5.25% 5.25% N/A N/A
Expected return on plan assets - Pension 8.50% 8.50% 8.75% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Expected return on plan assets - PBOP 6.50% 7.25%
Expected return on plan assets - PBOP 9.00% 8.75%
Medical trend

Initial 10.00% 10.00%
Ultimate 5.00% 5.00%
Year that trend reaches ultimate rate 2009 2008

Other Retiremen
Pension Plans

Qualified Nonqualified
Pension Plans Benefits
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

The following table provides a reconciliation of the changes in the Plans’ fair value of assets for the fiscal years 2005 and 2004, the expected contributions to the
trust in the following fiscal year, and the percentage distribution of the fair market value of the types of assets held in the benefit plans’ trusts.
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N a t i o n a l  G r i d  U S A  /  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

(in thousands)
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

Change in plan assets:
Beginning balance, April 1, 1,947,572$  1,606,971$     -$              -$               907,995$     588,686$        

Actual return on plan assets 134,990        462,876          -                 -                 49,373          154,039          
Employer contributions 130,316        155,090          10,053          9,788              59,715          205,945          
Benefit payments (252,254)      (144,292)        (8,995)           (8,399)            (94,910)         (40,675)          
Settlements -                 (133,073)        (1,058)           (1,389)            -                 -                 
Dispositions -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Ending balance, March 31, 1,960,624$  1,947,572$     -$              -$               922,173$     907,995$        

Distribution of plan assets, March 31,
Debt securities 34% 34% N/A N/A 39% 36%
Equity securities 65% 64% N/A N/A 59% 62%
Property/real estate 0% 1% N/A N/A 0% 0%
Other 1% 1% N/A N/A 2% 2%

100% 100% N/A N/A 100% 100%

Estimated contributions in following year 130,000$     135,000$        9,160$          8,405$            95,000$        89,000$          

PBOPPension Plans
Qualified Nonqualified

Pension Plans
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

The following benefit payments and subsidies, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid from the Company’s plans. 
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N a t i o n a l  G r i d  U S A  /  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

(in thousands)
Payments Subsidies Payments Subsidies Payments Subsidies

2006 195,000$        -$               9,000$            -$               100,000$        -$               
2007 190,000          -                 9,000              -                 105,000          8,000              
2008 185,000          -                 9,000              -                 108,000          8,800              
2009 184,000          -                 9,000              -                 110,000          9,400              
2010 192,000          -                 9,000              -                 111,000          9,900              
2011 - 2015 1,085,000       -                 46,000            -                 558,000          55,000            

PBOPPension Plans
Qualified Nonqualified

Pension Plans
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

The following table provides a reconciliation of the changes in the Plans’ fair benefit obligations for the fiscal years 2005 and 2004, accumulated benefit obliga-
tion for the pension plans at March 31, and the assumption used in developing the obligations.
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N a t i o n a l  G r i d  U S A  /  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

(in thousands)
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

Accumulated benefit obligation 2,409,544$  2,373,523$     111,044$     110,807$        N/A N/A

Change in benefit obligation:
Beginning balance, April 1, 2,609,731$  2,441,307$     114,190$     113,805$        1,834,258$  1,585,462$     

Service cost 50,656          47,342            690                647                 22,200          17,930            
Interest cost 144,100        146,273          6,149            6,578              103,810        98,849            
Actuarial losses 112,221        164,137          1,762            2,948              9,435            199,684          
Plan amendments 31,201          -                 -                 -                 146,689        (8,121)            
Benefit payments (252,253)      (144,292)        (8,995)           (8,399)            (97,383)         (85,203)          
Settlements -                 (133,073)        (1,057)           (1,389)            -                 -                 
Curtailments -                 (3,818)            -                 -                 -                 16,721            
Special termination benefits -                 91,855            -                 -                 -                 8,936              

Ending balance, March 31, 2,695,656$  2,609,731$     112,739$     114,190$        2,019,009$  1,834,258$     

Weighted average assumptions as of March 31, to determine obligation
Discount rate 5.75% 5.75% 5.75% 5.75% 5.75% 5.75%
Expected return on plan assets - Pension 8.50% 8.50% N/A N/A N/A N/A
Expected return on plan assets - PBOP Nonunion 6.75% 7.25%
Expected return on plan assets - PBOP Union 8.50% 8.75%
Medical trend

Initial 10.00% 10.00%
Ultimate 5.00% 5.00%
Year ultimate is reached 2010 2009

PBOPPension Plans
Qualified Nonqualified

Pension Plans
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

The following table provides the funded status of the benefits and the amounts recognized on the balance sheets at March 31.
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N a t i o n a l  G r i d  U S A  /  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

(in thousands)
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

Reconciliation of (accrued)/prepaid cost, March 31,
Funded status (735,032)$    (662,159)$      (112,739)$    (114,190)$      (1,096,837)$ (926,263)$      
Unrecognized prior service cost 54,888          26,439            (1,127)           (1,276)            133,106        (8,906)            
Unrecognized net loss 831,986        743,500          22,596          22,035            597,757        600,571          
Net amount recognized at March 31, 151,842$     107,780$        (91,270)$      (93,431)$        (365,974)$    (334,598)$      

Amounts recognized in the balance sheet consists of:
Accrued benefit liability (432,628)$    (425,951)$      (111,044)$    (110,807)$      (365,974)$    (334,598)$      
Intangible asset 54,888          26,439            -                 -                 -                 -                 
Regulatory asset 252,218        215,382          -                 -                 -                 -                 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 277,364        291,910          19,774          17,376            -                 -                 
Net amount recognized at March 31, 151,842$     107,780$        (91,270)$      (93,431)$        (365,974)$    (334,598)$      

PBOPPension Plans
Qualified Nonqualified

Pension Plans
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Change in Health Care Cost Trend Rate

PSC Audit
In connection with an audit performed by the New York State Public Service Commission (PSC)
on one of the Company’s subsidiaries, Niagara Mohawk reached a settlement with the PSC that
resolves all issues associated with Niagara Mohawk’s pension and other postretirement benefit
obligations for the period prior to the acquisition of Niagara Mohawk by the Company. Among
other things, the settlement covers the funding of Niagara Mohawk’s pension and post-retirement
benefit plans. Under the settlement, Niagara Mohawk agreed to provide $100 million of tax-
deductible funding by April 30, 2003 (which it funded in March 2003), and an additional $209 mil-
lion, on a tax-deductible basis, by December 31, 2011. Niagara Mohawk will earn a rate of return
of at least 6.60 percent on any portion of the $209 million that it funds before December 31,
2011, plus 80 percent of the amount by which the rate of return on the pension and post-retire-
ment benefit funds exceeds 5.34 percent. Niagara Mohawk has funded the additional $209 million
to its pension and post-retirement benefit plans as of March 31, 2005. 

Additional Minimum Pension Liability
The Company has recorded an additional minimum pension liability of approximately $621 million
and $552 million at March 31, 2005 and 2004. While the offset to this entry would normally be a
charge to other comprehensive income, the Company’s subsidiaries NEP and Niagara Mohawk
have recorded regulatory assets in the amount of $252 million and $237 million at March 31, 2005
and 2004, respectively, because they fully recover all pension costs. 

Voluntary Early Retirement Offers
In fiscal 2004, National Grid USA companies made two voluntary early retirement offers (VEROs).
The Company expensed approximately $67.2 million of non-union VERO costs in fiscal 2004.

Settlement Losses
As the result of the decline in the stock market since the close of the merger with Niagara
Mohawk and a reduction in the discount rate applied to pension obligations, Niagara Mohawk has
an unrecognized loss in its pension plans. Under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 88, “Employers’ Accounting for Settlements and Curtailments of Defined Benefit Pension
Plans and for Termination Benefits” (FAS 88), Niagara Mohawk must recognize a portion of this
loss immediately when payouts from the plans exceed a certain amount. Niagara Mohawk recog-
nized settlement losses of $21.6 million and $29.5 million in fiscal year 2004 and 2003, respective-
ly. In February 2004, Niagara Mohawk reached an agreement with PSC Staff that would provide
rate recovery for approximately $15 million of the $30 million pension settlement loss incurred in
fiscal 2003. This agreement was approved by the full New York State Public Service Commission
in July 2004. In addition, the agreement covers the funding of the entire settlement loss to benefit
plan trust funds. Under the agreement, Niagara Mohawk will fund the non-recoverable portion of
this loss within 30 days of receipt of the written order, which is expected to become effective in
August 2004. Niagara Mohawk recorded this recovery in the second quarter of fiscal 2005. In
addition, Niagara Mohawk has recently filed a petition with the PSC seeking recovery of its fiscal
year 2004 settlement losses and is unable to predict the outcome of this filing. 
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N a t i o n a l  G r i d  U S A  /  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

Effect of one percentage point change in Health Care Cost Trend rate
2005 2004

Increase 1%
Total of service cost plus interest cost 21,637$        14,603$        
Postretirement benefit obligation 295,000        193,880        

Decrease 1%
Total of service cost plus interest cost (18,196)         (12,797)         
Postretirement benefit obligation (257,030)       (175,067)       

PBOP
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Regulatory treatment of pensions and PBOP  
In addition to the regulatory assets established in connection with purchase accounting and the
additional minimum pension liability discussed above, the regulatory asset account “Pension and
postretirement benefit plans” includes certain other components. First, Niagara Mohawk is
required under the Merger Rate Plan to defer the difference between pension and postretirement
benefit expense and the allowance in rates for these costs. Also, the regulatory asset account
includes the $52 million cost of Niagara Mohawk’s Voluntary Early Retirement Program (VERP) that
occurred in conjunction with its acquisition by the Company, and a postretirement benefit phase-in
deferral established in the mid-1990’s. The VERP is being amortized unevenly over the 10 years of
Niagara Mohawk’s Merger Rate Plan with larger amounts being amortized in the earlier years.
VERP amortization in fiscal 2005 and 2004 was approximately $7 million and $8 million, respec-
tively. The phase-in deferral is being amortized at a rate of approximately $3 million per year.

Defined contribution plan
The Company also has a defined contribution pension plan (a section 401(k) employee savings
fund plan) that covers substantially all employees. Employer matching contributions of $10 million
and $12 million were expensed in fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Medicare Act of 2003
The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act was signed into law on
December 8, 2003. It created a new Medicare prescription drug benefit (Medicare Part D) and 
a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree healthcare plans that provide a benefit that is at least 
actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D. On May 19, 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position No.
106-2m “Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug,
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003” (the FSP). The FSP provides guidance on account-
ing for the effects of the Act, which resulted in a reduction in the APBO for the subsidy related to
benefits attributed to past service. The reduction in the APBO represents a deferred actuarial gain
in the amount of $153.4 million for the plans as of July 1, 2004. On January 21, 2005, final regula-
tions were issued on the new Medicare prescription drug program. The impact on plan obligations
as a result of the final regulations was not significant.

NOTE H – INCOME TAXES
The Company and its subsidiaries participate with National Grid General Partnership (NGGP), a
wholly owned subsidiary of NGT, in filing consolidated federal income tax returns. The Company’s
income tax provision is calculated on a separate return basis. Federal income tax returns have
been examined and all appeals and issues have been agreed upon by the Internal Revenue
Service and the Company through 1998.

Total income taxes in the consolidated statements of income are as follows:
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N a t i o n a l  G r i d  U S A  /  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

(In thousands)
2005

Service cost 1,220$          
Interest cost 7,396            
Recognized actuarial loss 8,904            

Net periodic benefit cost 17,520$        

Annualized expense reduction 23,360$        

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003
Income taxes charged to operations 306,229$       269,667$       228,729$       
Income taxes charged (credited) to "Other income" (4,263)            1,534             1,450             

Total income taxes 301,966$       271,201$       230,179$       

For the Year Ended March 31,
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Total income taxes, as shown above, consist of the following components:

Total income taxes, as shown above, consist of federal and state components as follows:

Since 1998, NEP has been amortizing previously deferred ITC related to generation investments
over the CTC recovery period. Unamortized ITC related to generating units divested in 1998 and
2001 were credited to other income pursuant to federal tax law.

Previously recognized ITC related to the transmission and distribution facilities of National Grid
USA’s regulated subsidiaries are amortized over their estimated productive lives. 

With regulatory approval, the subsidiaries have adopted comprehensive interperiod tax allocation
(normalization) for temporary book/tax differences.

Total income taxes differ from the amounts computed by applying the federal statutory tax rates to
income before taxes. The reasons for the differences are as follows:

The Company applies SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes”, which requires recognition
of deferred income taxes for temporary differences that are reported in different years for financial
reporting and tax purposes using the liability method. Under the liability method, deferred tax liabil-
ities or assets are computed using the tax rates that will be in effect when temporary differences
reverse. Generally, for regulated companies, the change in tax rates may not be immediately rec-
ognized in operating results because of rate-making treatment and provisions in the Tax Reform
Act of 1986.

55

N a t i o n a l  G r i d  U S A  /  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003
Current income taxes 88,011$         127,597$       108,700$       
Deferred income taxes 220,121         150,422         128,507         
Investment tax credits, net (6,166)            (6,818)            (7,028)            

Total income taxes 301,966$       271,201$       230,179$       

For the Year Ended March 31,

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003
Federal income taxes 273,269$       235,775$       196,496$       
State income taxes 28,697           35,426           33,683           

Total income taxes 301,966$       271,201$       230,179$       

For the Year Ended March 31,

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003
Computed tax at statutory rate 299,483$     185,853$     187,058$     
Increases (reductions) in tax resulting from:

Amortization of ITC, net (6,013) (6,616) (6,864)          
State income tax, net of federal income tax benefit 28,894 23,027 21,896         
Tax return true-ups (26,308) 20,232 12,476         
Foreign tax credits unutilized -                   32,350 -               
Rate recovery of deficiency in deferred tax reserves 1,856 2,455 1,851           
Book/tax depreciation normalized 16,852 21,328 16,093         
Unamortized debt discount not normalized 487 (1,556) 3,196           
Cost of removal (5,664) (6,857) (6,630)          
Medicare act (5,907) -                   -               
All other differences (1,714) 985 1,103           

Total income taxes 301,966$     271,201$     230,179$     

For the Year ended March 31,
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

The following is a detail of the Company’s accumulated deferred income taxes:

In December 1998, Niagara Mohawk received a ruling from the IRS which provided that the
amount of cash and the value of common stock that was paid by Niagara Mohawk to the subject
terminated IPP Parties was deductible in 1998 which resulted in Niagara Mohawk not paying any
regular federal income taxes for 1998, and further generated a substantial net operating loss for
federal income tax purposes. Niagara Mohawk carried back a portion of the unused net operating
loss (NOL) to the years 1996 and 1997, and also for the years 1988 through 1990, which resulted
in federal income tax refunds of $135 million that were received in January 1999. As a result of the
merger with the Company, Niagara Mohawk is now part of the consolidated tax return filing group
of NGGP. The Company anticipates that the consolidated tax filing group will be able to utilize the
remaining NOL carryforward prior to its expiration in 2019. The amount of the NOL carryforward
as of March 31, 2005 and 2004 was $301 million and $909 million, respectively. The Company’s
ability to utilize the NOL carryforward generated as a result of the Merger Rate Agreement and the
utilization of alternative minimum tax credits is affected by the rules of Section 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code. There were no valuation allowances for deferred tax assets deemed necessary at
March 31, 2005 or 2004.
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(In thousands) 2005 2004

Deferred tax assets:
Plant related 110,725$       104,576$       
Alternative Minimum Tax 111,609 81,639
Unbilled revenues 54,030 22,611
Non-utilized NOL carryforward 105,023 307,743
Liability for environmental costs 229,723 148,325
Voluntary early retirement program 41,558 219,237
Bad debts 62,046 29,474
Pension and other post-retirement benefits 185,324 40,830
Investment tax credit 12,146 14,080
Other 276,520 464,789

Total deferred tax assets 1,188,704 1,433,304

Deferred tax liabilities:
Plant related (1,358,129) (1,342,168)
Equity AFUDC (62,468) (62,127)
Deferred environmental restoration costs (200,175) (148,325)
Merger rate plan stranded costs (848,182) (896,816)
Merger fair value pension and OPEB adjustment (128,188) (146,898)
Bond redemption and debt discount (29,233) (30,772)
Pension and other post-retirement benefits (141,422) (110,163)
Other (284,903) (400,870)

Total deferred tax liabilities (3,052,700) (3,138,139)

Net accumulated deferred income tax liability (1,863,996) (1,704,835)

Current portion (net deferred tax asset) 340,837 248,642

Net accumulated deferred income tax liability
(noncurrent) (2,204,833)$   (1,953,477)$   

At March 31,

National Grid USA Annual Report.qxd  09/12/2005  12:11 PM  Page 56



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

NOTE I – LONG-TERM DEBT
Long-term debt consists of the following:
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N a t i o n a l  G r i d  U S A  /  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

Narragansett Electric
At March 31 (In thousands)
Series Rate % Maturity 2005 2004
First Mortgage Bonds:
V(94-4) 7.420 June 15, 2004 -$                   5,000$           
V(94-6) 8.330 November 8, 2004 -                     10,000           
U(93-3) 6.650 June 30, 2008 5,000             5,000             
V(94-1) 8.080 May 2, 2024 -                     5,000             
V(94-5) 8.160 August 9, 2024 -                     5,000             
V(95-2) 7.750 June 2, 2025 10,000           10,000           
V(95-3) 7.500 October 10, 2025 7,000             7,000             
W(95-1) 7.300 November 13, 2025 16,000           16,000           
W(96-1) 7.240 January 19, 2026 2,000             2,000             
W(97-1) 7.390 September 30, 2027 3,000             3,000             
W(97-2) 7.390 October 1, 2027 7,000             7,000             
   Subtotal - Narragansett Electric 50,000$         75,000$         

Massachusetts Electric
At March 31 (In thousands)
Series Rate % Maturity 2005 2004
First Mortgage Bonds:
U(94-6) 8.520 November 30, 2004 -$                   10,000$         
U(95-1) 8.450 January 10, 2005 -                     10,000           
U(95-2) 8.220 January 24, 2005 -                     10,000           
U(95-7) 7.920 March 3, 2005 -                     9,000             
V(95-1) 6.720 June 23, 2005 10,000           10,000           
V(96-1) 6.780 November 20, 2006 20,000           20,000           
T(93-7) 6.660 June 23, 2008 5,000             5,000             
T(93-8) 6.660 June 30, 2008 5,000             5,000             
T(93-10) 6.110 September 8, 2008 10,000           10,000           
T(93-11) 6.375 November 17, 2008 10,000           10,000           
V(98-3) 5.720 November 24, 2008 25,000           25,000           
U(94-2) 8.080 May 2, 2024 -                     5,000             
U(94-3) 8.030 June 14, 2024 -                     5,000             
U(94-4) 8.160 August 9, 2024 -                     5,000             
U(94-5) 8.850 November 7, 2024 -                     1,000             
U(95-6) 8.460 February 28, 2025 -                     3,000             
V(95-2) 7.630 June 27, 2025 10,000           10,000           
V(95-3) 7.600 September 12, 2025 10,000           10,000           
V(95-4) 7.630 September 12, 2025 10,000           10,000           
V(97-1) 7.390 October 1, 2027 15,000           15,000           
V(98-1) 6.910 January 12, 2028 20,000           20,000           
V(98-2) 6.940 January 12, 2028 5,000             5,000             
Pollution Control Revenue Bonds:
1993 5.875 August 1, 2008 40,000           40,000           
   Subtotal - Massachusetts Electric 195,000$       253,000$       

Granite State Electric
At March 31 (In thousands)
Series Rate % Maturity 2005 2004
Note 7.370 November 1, 2023 5,000$           5,000$           
Note 7.940 July 1, 2025 5,000             5,000             
Note 7.300 June 15, 2028 5,000             5,000             
   Subtotal - Granite State Electric 15,000$         15,000$         
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(1) Refinanced to auction rate mode on December 11, 2003. Effective interest rate at March 31, 2005 and March 31, 2004
was 2.70 percent and 1.18 percent, respectively.

(2) Refinanced to auction rate mode on May 27, 2004. Effective interest rate at March 31, 2005 was 2.10 percent.

(3) Refinanced to auction rate mode on May 1, 2003. Effective interest rate at March 31, 2005 and March 31, 2004 was
2.35 percent and 1.19 percent, respectively.    
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Niagara Mohawk
At March 31 (In thousands)
Series Rate % Maturity 2005 2004
First Mortgage Bonds:
8% 8.000 June 1, 2004 -$                   232,425$       
6 5/8% 6.625 July 1, 2005 110,000         110,000         
9 3/4% 9.750 November 1, 2005 137,981         137,981         
7 3/4% 7.750 May 15, 2006 275,000         275,000         
6 5/8% (1) 6.625 October 1, 2013 45,600           45,600           
5.15% 5.150 November 1, 2025 75,000           75,000           
7.2% (2) 7.200 July 1, 2029 115,705         115,705         
Senior Notes:
5 3/8% 5.375 October 1, 2004 -                     300,000         
7 5/8% 7.625 October 1, 2005 302,439         302,439         
8 7/8% 8.875 May 15, 2007 200,000         200,000         
7 3/4% 7.750 October 1, 2008 600,000         600,000         
Promissory Notes: (3)
2015 Variable July 1, 2015 100,000         100,000         
2023 Variable December 1, 2023 69,800           69,800           
2025 Variable December 1, 2025 75,000           75,000           
2026 Variable December 1, 2026 50,000           50,000           
2027 Variable March 1, 2027 25,760           25,760           
2027 Variable July 1, 2027 93,200           93,200           
Notes Payable:
NM Holdings Note 3.720 July 31, 2009 350,000         350,000         
NM Holdings Note 3.830 June 30, 2010 350,000         350,000         
NM Holdings Note 5.800 November 1, 2012 500,000         500,000         

Other -                     195                
   Subtotal - Niagara Mohawk 3,475,485$    4,008,105$    

Hydros
At March 31 (In thousands)
Series Rate % Maturity 2005 2004
Series B 9.260 April 17, 2007 12,110$         21,380$         
Series C 9.410 October 17, 2015 46,270           46,270           
   Subtotal - Hydros 58,380$         67,650$         
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(1) At March 31, 2005, interest rates on NEP’s variable rate bonds ranged from 1.90 percent to 2.18 percent.

Substantially all of the properties of the Company are subject to liens of mortgage indentures
under which mortgage bonds have been issued.

As of March 31, 2005, the aggregate payments to retire maturing long term debt are as follows 
(in thousands):
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Nantucket Electric
At March 31 (In thousands)
Series Rate % Maturity 2005 2004
2004 Series 1996 MIFA Tax Exempt 5.300 July 1, 2004 -$                   1,400$           
2005 Series 1996 MIFA Tax Exempt 6.750 July 1, 2005 1,400             1,400             
2006 Series 1996 MIFA Tax Exempt 6.750 July 1, 2006 1,400             1,400             
2007 Series 1996 MIFA Tax Exempt 5.600 July 1, 2007 1,400             1,400             
2008 Series 1996 MIFA Tax Exempt 5.750 July 1, 2008 1,400             1,400             
2009 Series 1996 MIFA Tax Exempt 5.750 July 1, 2009 1,400             1,400             
1991 $3.5 Million MIFA Tax-Exempt Variable March 1, 2016 2,640             2,775             
2017 Series 1996 MIFA Tax Exempt 5.875 July 1, 2017 20,500           10,500           
   Subtotal - Nantucket Electric 30,140$         21,675$         

New England Power
At March 31 (In thousands)
Series Rate % Maturity 2005 2004
Pollution Control Revenue Bonds: (1)

CDA (a) Variable October 15, 2015  $         38,500  $         38,500 
MIFA 1 (b) Variable March 1, 2018             79,250             79,250 
BFA 1 (c) Variable November 1, 2020           135,850           135,850 
BFA 2 (c) Variable November 1, 2020             50,600             50,600 
MIFA 2 (b) Variable October 1, 2022           106,150           106,150 
   Subtotal - New England Power  $       410,350  $       410,350 

Totals - National Grid USA
At March 31 (In thousands) 2005 2004
Total long-term debt 4,234,355$    4,850,780$    
Unamortized Discount on Debt (2,572)            (3,235)            
Long-term debt due within one year 567,725         597,230         
Total long-term debt, excluding current portion 3,664,058$    4,250,315$    

Fiscal Year Amount
2006 561,820$          
2007 296,400            
2008 213,510            
2009 701,400            
2010 351,400            

Thereafter 2,109,825         
4,234,355$       
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

At March 31, 2005, the Company's subsidiaries' long term debt excluding intercompany debt had
a carrying value of $3.0 billion and a fair value of $3.1 billion.  The fair value of debt that re-prices
frequently at market rates approximates carrying value.  The fair market value of the Company's
subsidiaries' long term debt was estimated based on the quoted prices for similar issues or on the
current rates offered to the Company and its subsidiaries for debt of the same remaining maturity.

NOTE J – SHORT-TERM DEBT
NEP 
At March 31, 2005 and 2004, NEP had lines of credit and standby bond purchase facilities with
banks totaling $440 million and $439 million, respectively, which is available to provide liquidity
support for $410 million of NEP’s long-term bonds in tax-exempt commercial paper mode, and for
other corporate purposes. The agreement with banks that provide NEP’s line of credit and stand-
by bond purchase facility expires on November 29, 2009, subject to regulatory approval. NEP
plans to seek such regulatory approval later this year. There were no borrowings under these lines
of credit at March 31, 2005. Fees are paid on the lines and facilities in lieu of compensating bal-
ances.

Inter-company money pool
The Company and certain subsidiaries operate a money pool to more effectively utilize cash
resources and to reduce outside short-term borrowings. Short-term borrowing needs are met first
by available funds of the money pool participants. Borrowing companies pay interest at a rate
designed to approximate the cost of third-party short-term borrowings. Companies that invest in
the pool share the interest earned on a basis proportionate to their average monthly investment in
the money pool. Funds may be withdrawn from or repaid to the pool at any time without prior
notice. The Company has the ability to borrow up to $2 billion from its parent (through intermedi-
ary entities), National Grid Transco (NGT), and certain other subsidiaries of NGT, including for pur-
pose of funding the money pool if necessary. At March 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company had
borrowed $619 and $383 million respectively, under this arrangement. 

NOTE K – CUMULATIVE PREFERRED STOCK
A summary of cumulative preferred stock at March 31, 2005 and 2004 is as follows (in thousands
except for share data and call price):
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Call
Company Price

March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31,
2005 2004 2005 2004

$100 par value -
3.40% Series Niagara Mohawk 57,536        57,536        5,754$        5,754$        103.500$   
3.60% Series Niagara Mohawk 137,139      137,139      13,714        13,714        104.850     
3.90% Series Niagara Mohawk 94,967        94,967        9,496          9,497          106.000     
4.10% Series Niagara Mohawk 52,830        52,830        5,283          5,283          102.000     
4.44% Series Mass Electric 22,585        22,585        2,259          2,259          104.068     
4.76% Series Mass Electric 24,680        24,680        2,468          2,468          103.730     
4.85% Series Niagara Mohawk 35,128        35,128        3,513          3,513          102.000     
5.25% Series Niagara Mohawk 34,115        34,115        3,410          3,411          102.000     
6.00% Series New England Power 11,117        12,734        1,112          1,273          (a)

$50 par value -
4.50% Series Narragansett 49,089        49,089        2,454          2,453          55.000       
4.64% Series Narragansett 57,057        57,057        2,854          2,853          52.125       

$25 par value -
Adjustable Rate Series D Niagara Mohawk -              503,100      -              25,155        (b)
 Total 576,243      1,080,960   52,317$      77,633$      

(a)  Noncallable.
(b)  Callable on or after December 31, 2004 at $50.

Outstanding
Shares

(in 000's)
Amount
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NOTE L – COST OF REMOVAL
In 2001, FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations” (FAS 143).
FAS 143 provides accounting requirements for retirement obligations associated with tangible
long-lived assets. The Company was required to adopt FAS 143 as of April 1, 2003. Retirement
obligations associated with long-lived assets included within the scope of FAS 143 are those for
which there is a legal obligation under existing or enacted law, statute, written or oral contract, or
by legal construction under the doctrine of promissory estoppel.

Management does not believe the Company has any material asset retirement obligations arising
from legal obligations as defined under FAS 143. However, under the Company’s current and prior
rate plans it has collected through rates an implied cost of removal for its plant assets. This cost
of removal collected from customers differs from FAS 143’s definition of an asset retirement obli-
gation in that these collections are for costs to remove an asset when it is no longer deemed
usable (i.e. broken or obsolete) and not necessarily from a legal obligation. For a vast majority of
its electric and gas transmission and distribution assets the Company would use these funds to
remove the asset so a new one could be installed in its place.

The collection of cost of removal collected from customers has historically been embedded within
accumulated deprecation (as these costs have been charged over time through deprecation
expense). With the adoption of FAS 143 the Company has reclassed the cost of removal collec-
tions to a regulatory liability account to more properly reflect the future usage of these collections.
The Company estimates it has collected over time approximately $505 million and $487 million for
cost of removal through March 31, 2005 and March 31, 2004, respectively.

In March 2005, the FASB issued FIN 47 that clarifies that the term ‘conditional asset retirement
obligation’ used in SFAS No. 143, ‘Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligation’ (SFAS 143) refers
to a legal obligation to perform an asset retirement activity in which the timing and/or method of
settlement are conditional on a future even that may or may not be within the control of the
Group. This statement will be effective for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006 for the Company.
The adoption of FIN 47 is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s results of
operations or its financial position.61
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